DISSERTATION

ASSOCIATE DEGREE NURSING GRADUATE PERCEPTIONS OF THE INFLUENCE OF SERVICE LEARNING ON TRANSITION TO CLINICAL PRACTICE

Submitted by

Kathy Smith-Stillson

School of Education

In partial fulfillment of the requirements

For the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy

Colorado State University

Fort Collins, Colorado

Summer 2009

UMI Number: 3385128

All rights reserved

INFORMATION TO ALL USERS

The quality of this reproduction is dependent upon the quality of the copy submitted.

In the unlikely event that the author did not send a complete manuscript and there are missing pages, these will be noted. Also, if material had to be removed, a note will indicate the deletion.



UMI 3385128
Copyright 2009 by ProQuest LLC.
All rights reserved. This edition of the work is protected against unauthorized copying under Title 17, United States Code.



ProQuest LLC 789 East Eisenhower Parkway P.O. Box 1346 Ann Arbor, MI 48106-1346

COLORADO STATE UNIVERSITY

April 28th, 2009

WE HEREBY RECOMMEND THAT THE DISSERTATION PREPARED UNDER
OUR SUPERVISION BY KATHY SMITH-STILLSON ENTITLED ASSOCIATE
DEGREE NURSING GRADUATE PERCEPTIONS OF THE INFLUENCE OF
SERVICE LEARNING ON TRANSITION TO CLINICAL PRACTICE BE ACCEPTED
AS FULFILLING IN PART REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF DOCTOR OF
PHILOSOPHY.

Committee on Graduate work

David Greene

Karen Kaminski

John Littrell

Advisor, Don Quick

School Director, Timothy Gray Davies

ABSTRACT OF DISSERTATION

ASSOCIATE DEGREE NURSING GRADUATE PERCEPTIONS OF THE INFLUENCE OF SERVICE LEARNING ON TRANSITION TO CLINICAL PRACTICE

The 2007 U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics projected a need for more than one million new and replacement nurses by 2016, while higher education continues to be challenged to find methods of producing graduate satisfaction, accompanied by successful transition from college to the workplace. Some nursing programs are meeting the challenge by utilizing a 1970s teaching strategy partnering experiential learning and community service - service learning, allowing students to work side-by-side with practicing medical professionals to meet community needs for nursing practice. Although success of this pedagogy has been documented with increasing frequency by Baccalaureate Nursing programs, Associate Degree (AD) program outcomes have only been described anecdotally, if at all, in research. Furthermore, even anecdotal accounts on any level have involved the reflections of student nurses, faculty and employers. Nowhere in the literature have reflections been documented of AD registered nurses who had experienced service learning as students. Using a qualitative basic interpretive design, this research sought to capture the meaning AD prepared RNs attributed to the service learning experience as it related to transition from the Associate Degree nursing program to the practice setting.

This study used focus groups and interviews to explore the perceptions of
Associate Degree prepared registered nurses whose nursing program included service
learning educational experiences. In response to open-ended questions, fifteen
participants shared their perceptions of what transpired as each worked in a community
free clinic with nurse practitioners to meet clinical coursework requirements. Six themes
were identified from participant responses. Three of the themes were intrinsic to the
study: skill development, heightened awareness, and increased civic responsibility. Three
additional themes went beyond the transfer of learning themes: professional inspiration,
satisfaction, and success. In light of the findings related to participant responses,
additional research of both a qualitative and quantitative nature is recommended.
Research of this nature is warranted both with graduates of Associate Degree nursing
programs where service learning was part of the curriculum and with graduates of
Baccalaureate Degree nursing programs where service learning was part of the
curriculum.

Kathy Smith-Stillson School of Education Colorado State University Fort Collins, CO 80523 Summer 2009

DEDICATION

I dedicate this dissertation to my family who makes the world livable and all pursuits achievable: first to the head of my family, the Holy Trinity, God, Jesus and the Holy Spirit, who have called me to higher goals and achievements to limitless ends of which only He knows; my sons, Shayn Henry and Chase Melfred Stillson who have never lost faith in me and always encouraged me in my extended journey to completion of this work; my daughter-in-law Christina Vonié who has become my daughter in her marriage to Chase and her mothering of their two children, my grandchildren, Henry Chadpatrick Stillson and Zelia Elisa Stillson, for their love and for Vonié's commiseration as she pursued and completed her Masters degree while I worked to complete my PhD and as she plans for her own PhD – keep your priorities my daughter, first God, then family, and then the PhD!; my sister Elma June Nauman for her love and prayers; my sister Ginger Louise Higgins and her husband Jay Higgins for their love and encouragement and for their prayers; all my nieces and nephews – Ann, Kurt, Jonathan, Timothy, Mary-Ellen, Danny, Nichole and Andrew - for their support and encouragement, with a special note of thanks to Timothy and his wife Mary who invited me into their home while I collected my data; and, my Aunt Beryl who kept my heart full. I also dedicate this to my four girlfriends, Diane Trix, Becky Lynch, Carol Wiegand, and Sophia Woodard, who have loved, supported, and encouraged me in spite of whining, screaming, crying, delays, and the hysterical laughter that sometimes comes with the intensity of this endeavor. I dedicate this to Dr. Patricia Tumminia and her colleagues who assisted me with my data collection. I also dedicate my dissertation to the participants in the study who shared their time and their experiences with me – without them there would not have been a study. I dedicate this to my college, The Denver School of Nursing for the support of all from the President to the Deans to my colleagues, the nursing faculty; you gave me the encouragement and support I needed to finally complete the long journey. Finally, I dedicate this dissertation to my Advisor, Don Quick, my methodologist, John Littrell, my committee members, David Green and Karen Kaminski, with special thanks to Duane Jansen who started me into my PhD and to Tim Davies who guided me through the coursework to successful completion of my comprehensive examinations – all have treated me with respect, encouraged me, given me their time and experience and showed me the way to a successful completion. I am grateful and thankful to you all.

CONTENTS

| ABSTRACT OF DISSERTATION | iii |
|---|----------|
| DEDICATION | v |
| CONTENTS | vi |
| CHAPTER ONE - INTRODUCTION | 1 |
| BackgroundEmployment Skill NeedsNursing Education | 1 |
| Statement of Problem | 5 |
| Significance of the Study | 7 |
| Researcher Perspective | 8 |
| CHAPTER TWO - LITERATURE REVIEW | 14 |
| Imperatives for the Service Learning Movement Legislative Business and Industry | |
| Student Transition into the Workplace Indicators of Student Success Student Job Satisfaction Transition | 20 21 |
| Theoretical Models Environmental Congruence Knowledge Transfer | 26 |
| Service Learning | |
| Conclusion | 47 |
| CHAPTER THREE - METHODOLOGY | 49 |
| Design | 51 |
| Participants and Sites | 53 |

| Site Selection Process | 53 |
|---|-----|
| Working with the Site | |
| Participants Recruited | |
| Participant Demographics | 57 |
| Data Collection | 59 |
| Focus Groups | 60 |
| Confidentiality | |
| Follow-Up Interviews | 64 |
| Analysis | 65 |
| Trustworthiness | 66 |
| Triangulation | |
| Member-checking & Clarification of Researcher Bias | 67 |
| Provision of Comprehensive and Rich Descriptions | 68 |
| CHAPTER FOUR - FINDINGS | 69 |
| Service Learning Activities | |
| - | |
| Transfer of Learning Themes | |
| Skill Development | |
| Heightened Awareness Civic Responsibility | |
| • • | |
| Beyond Transfer of Learning Themes | |
| Professional Inspiration | |
| Satisfaction | |
| Success | 04 |
| CHAPTER FIVE - DISCUSSION | 86 |
| Answering the Research Questions | 86 |
| Service Learning Impact on Transfer of Skills | |
| Service Learning Impact on Satisfaction with Preparation | |
| Service Learning Impact on Successful Entry into Practice | |
| Impact of Service Recipients on Participants | 93 |
| Other Issues that Emerged | |
| Comparison of Experiences - Use in AD Nursing Program versus BSN Nu | _ |
| Program | |
| Influences on Participant Responses | 99 |
| Recommendations | 100 |
| Conclusion | 102 |
| REFERENCES | 105 |
| APPENDIX A - INVITATIONAL LETTER TO POTENTIAL PARTICIPANTS | 135 |
| APPENDIX B - INVITATION TO PARTICIPATE | 138 |

| APPENDIX C - CONSENT TO PARTICIPATE | 141 |
|---------------------------------------|-----|
| APPENDIX D - FOCUS GROUP PROCESS | 143 |
| APPENDIX E - FOCUS GROUP PARTICIPANTS | 145 |

CHAPTER ONE - INTRODUCTION

Across the United States, higher education is being challenged to provide quality indicators in academic programs and responsiveness to the needs voiced by the workforce while demonstrating successful outcomes in graduation-to-workforce transitions. Nowhere are the needs for high quality outcomes and the demand for successful school to work transitions more greatly needed in the United States today than in the medical professions, specifically in nursing. The Office of Occupational Statistics and Employment Projections of the US Department of Labor indicated in 2007 that over one million new and replacement nurses will be needed by the year 2016, creating a national shortage of nurses so acute, and growing at such a rate, that it will impact the populace much the same as a national disaster, on a level equal to a major earthquake, flood, or, to use a more-timely example, that of a massive hurricane such as 2005's Katrina (Dohm & Shniper, 2007; Hecker, 2005; US Department of Labor, 2004). It is not enough to produce more programs and graduates, higher education must produce graduates who will successfully transition into the work environment and continue to persist as valued workers.

Background

Employment Skill Needs

In the late 1980's and early 1990's research of employer expectations for workforce development was completed (Hoerner & Wehrley, 1995). From the reports that followed the US Department of Labor issued statements regarding the need for a

refocusing of occupational and professional education. In 1991, legislation was proposed and passed that supported the employer outcry with measures such as HB 99-1289, reported in the SCANS publications (1992a, 1992b, & 1992c). This bill implemented a two-year analysis that examined educational curriculum, retention and transfer policies, as well as examining the Quality Indicator System. In 1992, the Secretary's Commission on Achieving Necessary Skills (SCANS) released a combination of reports as a blueprint for colleges and universities to follow in this effort. These reports indicated that the employer/workforce environment demands that entry-level employees come from the educational environment with work skills that include the ability to think critically, show initiative, respond to constructive criticism, demonstrate a positive work ethic (positive attitude, timeliness, showing up), and ability to be a team player (SCANS 1992a, 1992b, & 1992c; US Department of Labor, 2009).

In spite of the passage of seventeen years, the findings echoed in these reports remain as guidelines for education, communities, and cooperative efforts to produce the highest levels of workforce development (US Department of Labor 2005, 2009). Current literature and current employer surveys indicate that employers continue to expect graduates of Associate Degree programs, including nursing, to come with specific skills beyond those confined to their educational degree (e.g. intravenous therapy, knowledge of drugs & patient care). Health care employers and manager expectations of nursing graduates across the spectrum from hospitals to long term care to community health include: application of occupational knowledge; use/operation of equipment; problem solving skills; reading and writing skill; ability to complete work in accordance with quality standards; organizational skill; computer skills; math skills; listening and

speaking skills; interpersonal skills; teamwork skills; ability to be customer focused; Initiative to seek to continuously improve performance; demonstration of a good work ethic; ability to accept advice, supervision, and constructive criticism (Jones & Cheek, 2003; Lakeshore, 2006).

Nursing Education

Nowhere are these concerns more poignant than in nursing education. The U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics announced in their November 2007 *Monthly Labor Review* that the latest projections indicate more than one million new and replacement nurses will be needed by 2016. Population growth indicators show that the United States is growing both in numbers of elderly who will require health care and numbers of newborns and children who will require health care (Allender & Spradley, 2005). Although the November 2005, Occupational Review lowered that need for new nurses to approximately 750,000, more current projections indicate that the nursing shortage is growing on an average of 3% per year (Dohm & Shniper, 2007). No other educational program is more challenged to produce quality graduates in a timely fashion who will not only graduate but also persist in the workplace (Chan, McBey, O'Donnell, & Winter, 2004; Jones & Cheek, 2003).

A means for facilitating transition from college to the health care work environment must be employed if the outcomes are to include student/graduate satisfaction, student/graduate success, and successful transition from college to the workplace. The research of Jones & Cheek (2003) indicates a solution. The authors' research indicates it is of paramount importance that nursing education create partnerships in collaboration with key stakeholders (nursing employers) if we are to both

cover the ever growing need for nursing graduates and, at the same time, assure that nursing employers can both attract and retain the nurses they hire.

Nursing education has, from its inception in the early 1900s, incorporated experiential learning into nursing program requirements in the form of clinical experiences in hospitals, nursing homes, and the home health or public health environments. In the 1970s a new teaching strategy that partnered experiential learning and community service called "service learning" was spawned (Sigmon, 1979). This pedagogy allows students to work side-by-side with practicing medical professionals in efforts to meet community needs for nursing practice while applying skills, critical thinking, and the nursing process (that is, Nursing diagnosis [NANDA] – Planning -Intervention – Evaluation of client needs & outcomes) to address patient needs in a community setting (Bailey, Carpenter, & Harrington, 1999; Poirrier, 2001). Service learning incorporates several specific attributes including: partnership between an educational setting and a work setting to meet a community need; a civic component to the learning experience – identification and addressing of a community need; inclusion of one or more community persons from the prospective work environment in the planning, teaching, and evaluation aspects of the learning experience; a reflective component to the learning experience to allow students to process the experience and envision applications of the experience to their future career (Bailey, Carpenter, & Harrington, 2002; Clark, 1999; Collier & Driscoll, 1999; National Service-Learning Clearinghouse, 2009; Stanton, Giles, & Cruz, 1999).

This pedagogy answers the charge of the National League of Nursing (NLN) (2008) to create community-driven models for nursing education using service learning

strategies to bring about needed reform in nursing education and to meet the evergrowing nursing needs in healthcare provision throughout the new century.

Statement of Problem

The premise of the service learning pedagogy is that the student will step out of the classroom and lab with the nursing program's academic instructor into an actual work setting where he or she works intimately with a nursing professional who serves both as mentor and work-site instructor. To optimally explore the outcomes of this experience as relates to transition into the actual clinical practice of nursing, I sought the perceptions of nurses who graduated from programs that incorporated this pedagogy.

The purpose of this study was to develop an understanding of the effectiveness of service learning as a teaching pedagogy in Associate Degree nursing programs as relates to transition into the world of professional nursing in a clinical setting. I sought Associate Degree prepared registered nurses' perspectives around the experience of service learning and how that affected their transfer to the medical work environment upon graduation and beyond.

Research Questions

The guiding question was, "Did the graduated registered nurse use skills learned during service learning in transitioning from an Associate Degree nursing program to the clinical work setting?" The following research questions were considered relevant to the identified population. In each case the question related to the perception of this population with respect to service learning and:

1. How did the participants' service learning experience relate to their initial nursing work experience after graduation?

- 2. How did the skills used in the initial clinical setting after graduation relate to their service learning experience?
- 3. How did the service learning experience impact the participants' level of satisfaction with their preparation for a clinical career as a registered nurse?
- 4. How did the service learning experience enhance their success as entry-level registered nurses?
- 5. How did the service recipient contribute to the participant's educational experience and on-going professional career as a registered nurse?

Definition of Terms

Appropriate interpretation of both the research questions and the impending results relied heavily on a shared vocabulary. Each of these terms was defined in relation to the recent nursing graduate's perceptions of the impact of participation in an Associate Degree nursing program curricular service learning project.

Service learning. "Service learning is a teaching and learning strategy that integrates meaningful community service with instruction and reflection to enrich the learning experience, teach civic responsibility, and strengthen communities." (National Service-Learning Clearinghouse, 2009). In other words, service learning includes projects that apply classroom learning with community service (Gardner & Van der Veer, 1998) where there is a partnership with the community, the community has an identified need, the goal of the project is to meet a community need while enhancing certain programmatic and personal objectives for the student, the community partners take leadership roles in the project, and there is a student reflection component to the project.

Clinical setting. The clinical setting is a nursing care setting with hands on practice of skills within the nursing scope of practice involving human patients or clients. Such settings could include hospitals, nursing homes, rehabilitation units, community health, home health care, public health nursing, occupational nursing, clinic or office practice, nursing in a department of corrections infirmary setting, and public school infirmary nursing (Ignatavicus & Workman, 2006; DeLaune & Ladner, 2002).

Entry level nursing work experience. For the purpose of this research I define "entry level nursing work experience" as the first or initial employment of a nursing graduate involving the clinical setting following graduation from a nursing program.

Significance of the Study

The National League of Nursing (NLN) is a programmatic accrediting body for nursing education. The NLN accredits both Bachelor of Science in Nursing (BSN) and Associate Degree in Nursing (ADN) programs. In 2003 the NLN Board of Governors identified priorities for research in nursing education that included Community-based nursing and service learning strategies (National League of Nursing, 2009a). In August of 2008 the NLN Board of Governors indicated that innovations that would lead to creating reform in nursing education include community driven models for curriculum development that incorporate community-based nursing and service learning strategies (National League of Nursing, 2009b). Service learning is an educational pedagogy that is showing promise as a strategy involving a collaborative effort between community institutions and organizations to meet the nursing shortage (Bailey et al., 1999; Holloway, 2002; Poirrier, 2001; Seifer & Vaughan, 2002). Research involving transitional outcomes from nursing programs at the Associate Degree nursing level that incorporated the

curricular pedagogy of service learning into the clinical setting of the graduated and practicing registered nurse has been addressed anecdotally in the nursing literature. However, an extensive search of the literature using ERIC, Google, and the EBSCOHOST with CINAHL databases failed to yield any research outcomes involving reflections of graduates of Associate Degree nursing programs who experienced service learning in their educational program and how that has impacted them as working registered nurses.

Exploring graduated nurses' perceptions around the service learning experience provided added understanding of what does or does not result in successful nursing educational outcomes, successful transition from the academic setting to the clinical setting for nursing graduates, nursing graduate satisfaction, and the long-term career impact of the experience. Since the use of service learning as a means to transition has been suggested in the literature (Bailey, Carpenter, & Harrington, 1999; Jones & Cheek, 2003; Poirrier, 2001), exploring the nursing graduate's perceptions of this experience adds to the scholarly research and literature in the field. Again, no studies were identified that seek to understand the perceptions of the Associate Degree nursing graduate in these realms. Furthermore, there was a paucity of literature around community college efforts in the areas of service learning, transition, and nursing graduate satisfaction (Applebaum, 1999; Bacon, 1997; Yohe, 1997). Therefore, the need for this study was both timely and warranted.

Researcher Perspective

As a registered nurse of thirty years and an educator for Nursing and Allied Health students, I have been in a service arena my entire professional life. However, going back even further, I have reflected on what made me "sure" that a career in nursing was the right "fit" for me, and what assisted in my ultimate successful transitions, first from high school to the university and my nurse's training and then from the university into the clinical work arena.

In high school, in the latter part of the 1960s, I was encouraged to work as a volunteer, a candy striper, in the local hospital. Hospitals even then, as now, had needs for assistance on the floor that exceeded the staff they employed. They had sent out a request to local high schools seeking volunteers to increase the hands-on care for patients. The setting back then allowed the volunteer not only to interact verbally with patients but to actually assist the staff. Essentially, it was a type of experiential learning. I fed patients, helped change beds, played with ill children, and experienced the culture of the nursing environment. There were joyful, tedious, sad, and fulfilling interactions in this experience. But, all in all, it confirmed my desire to become a nurse.

In college, our program faculty at Northern Illinois University impressed on all the nursing students that we were entering a service profession. My most memorable instructor insisted that we recognize our roles, both in school and on graduation, to include both professional service to the community and service to the patients in the work environment. She challenged us to understand that as professionals in health care this type of service was both an expectation and a privilege. As I volunteered time outside of class and worked with patients on clinical rotations, I felt like a nurse, even before I graduated. This encouraged me and I made my transition into the work world with enough self-confidence to endure the inevitable "bumps in the road" encountered by the new graduate in nursing.

Throughout my professional career those early influences towards service within my profession and within my community have served me well. When I entered into teaching of nursing and allied health professions, I found students desired to become active in using these newly learned skills. I started providing connections within the community for students to volunteer and begin to use their skills. These opportunities included health fairs, volunteer work at hospitals and nursing homes, as well as volunteer work in other capacities such as flood relief. As students have graduated, some have come back to me to share their successes and trials. Over and over they have referenced the volunteer experiences as stepping-stones in their career paths. At the same time, I have watched others graduate and become Fast-Food managers and truck drivers!

Frequently, I wondered what made the difference. Why did some transition successfully and others did not?

More recently, I was the Director of Nursing Education Programs and a Professor at Aims Community College in Greeley, Colorado. There I continued encouraging my students to use volunteer work to improve their skills. However, in reading both the history of the use of service learning and the latest materials on service learning, I became fascinated with the possibilities for formalizing student experiences in the areas of applied community service using the skills gained in the college classroom. In talking with other faculty in other occupational or career/technical programs, I have found that many have used volunteer opportunities, also, but none have attempted the use of service learning in their programs. However, many have become drawn, as have I, to the potential of service learning as a means to increase successful graduate outcomes. Six years ago, I incorporated the service learning experience as a major emphasis in one of

my allied health programs. Through the use of this methodology, and the journaling reflections of the involved students, I witnessed very positive outcomes in student participation, the growth of self-confidence and success in program completion. Since the graduation of these students, several have returned to share with me how the service learning experience impacted their entry and transition into their community and into their chosen career. In addition, the employers where students were placed for clinical experiences and ultimately for employment, expressed pleasure with higher level work skills among these students. However, graduate reflections in a research format have not yet been explored. Following my work in allied health, I returned to the teaching and supervision of two community college nursing programs.

In 2005 I left the Community College setting and joined a private college,

Concorde Career College in Denver, Colorado. Here I was given the opportunity to, once
again, help in the development and implementation of an Associate Degree Nursing
program as one half of a teaching team. At Concorde, service learning was not formally
acknowledged as a teaching pedagogy, but several of the instructors used the concepts of
service learning to teach community nursing.

In 2007 I left Concorde and joined the team at a different private college, The Denver School of Nursing (DSN). Here I have taught in both the Associate Degree (AD) and Bachelor Degree (BSN) nursing programs. I currently am both a teaching Associate Professor and the Clinical Field Coordinator at DSN. The Denver School of Nursing has allowed me to use my belief in service learning to create alternative clinical experiences for both the AD and BSN students. Although the service learning pedagogy has not been implemented as yet in the core curriculum as reflected in syllabi, it has still occurred as

individual projects and as part of the underlying impetus for offering alternative clinical rotation sites, such as taking the AD students to a camp that is run largely on donations and scholarships for campers. In a private encounter in the spring of 2007, it came to my attention that the camp was having difficulty securing nurses to volunteer for the camp nurse position. The camp depends on volunteers to fill such ancillary positions in order to stay within their budget while adhering to a mission statement that includes, "no child will be prevented from attending camp due to financial limitations." Having identified a community need while recognizing the ever increasing difficulty with finding clinical rotations for pediatrics, specifically for AD students, I approached the Deans of our nursing programs and proposed the use of the camp to meet both the camp's need and the students' need. This began a service learning format for the AD student that includes reflection through journaling and group discussion while providing experiential learning in a community setting where students are taught by members of the community and by the camp nurse – in this case the camp nurse is me. I have camp nursing experience that stretches back over sixteen years. My role for the camp is to act as camp nurse 24-7 for a period of two weeks each summer. During that time I bring groups of AD student nurses to camp to work with the campers by teaching health education, passing medication, providing limited medical care for campers mostly in the form of first aide, and assisting with referral of campers who may need more advanced medical intervention.

I believe strongly in the potential of service learning and was inspired to pursue research on how service learning has been used in nursing programs at the Associate Degree Nursing level. Having seen a snapshot view of the effects of service learning on allied health students at the community college level and the apparent effects on

transition to the workplace, I wanted to see how graduates of nursing programs at this level had been impacted through the service learning experience in their transition from college to the clinical environment. At present in my work with Associate degree and Bachelor degree students, I am actively working with The Denver School of Nursing to bring service learning into the curriculum in pursuit of a joint service learning endeavor to benefit a community need.

There is an absence of research and documentation of the use of service learning as it relates to transitional outcomes from the community college and/or Associate degree setting to the clinical work setting upon graduation. No studies have been identified involving the reflections of nurses in clinical practice who experienced service learning in an Associate Degree Nursing program or how this experience has impacted their transition from college to work. With this in mind and since my personal experiences in community service have been so positive, I feel an investment in discovering the essence of the nursing graduate's perspective of this experience. I believe this study is timely and that there is a real need to explore service learning as a transitional experience for nursing education at the Associate degree level.

CHAPTER TWO - LITERATURE REVIEW

Over the last two decades there has been an increasing thrust in government to hold the higher education community accountable for the outcomes of programs and curriculum (The Secretary's Commission on Achieving Necessary Skills, 1992a & 1992b; 2009). Funding has become contingent on the ability to produce quality indicators that include student satisfaction and student success through successful transition from the academic setting to the workplace. A variety of techniques have been used in an attempt to increase the incidence of successful transition from higher education, in this case the community college, into the workplace. One technique that has shown promise is the use of service learning.

Service learning is a curricular reform movement with its roots in the 1960s and early 1970s. The movement was initiated by community activists and educators who sought to combine structured educational experiences with community action believing that this would "provide stronger service and leadership in communities and deeper, more relevant education for students" (Stanton, Giles, & Cruz, 1999, p. 1). Over the decades, service learning has been ascribed with multiple definitions in multiple settings.

However, certain consistent elements have been gleaned from the literature describing its usage. Initially the definitions were vague and simply emphasized it to be an educational model to prepare students for work with an emphasis on community service (Christiansen, 1994; Clark, 1999; Collier & Driscoll, 1999).

With the passage of time the definition has refined. Elizabeth Hollander,

Executive Director of Campus Compact, and John Saltmarsh, project director of the

Integrating Service with Academic Study Program at Campus Compact (2000)

summarized service learning in this manner, "With service learning, as distinguished
from community service, students engage in an organized activity that meets identified
community needs and participate in structured reflection on the activity in a way that
furthers understanding of the course content, a broader appreciation of a discipline (or
disciplines), and an enhanced sense of civic responsibility," (p. 30). At the start, the
service learning movement fell mostly to individuals who worked independently and
often at odds with the prevailing trends of both communities and educational settings,
whether secondary or post-secondary (Stanton et al., 1999). However, the driving forces
of federal legislation and the workplace have legitimized service learning and set it apart
as an approved curricular option.

To ground the research that is to follow, literature was examined and sorted to identify the following: (1) legislative imperatives, (2) workplace imperatives, (3) theoretical foundations for the study, (4) student indicators for success, satisfaction and graduate transition, and (5) studies that define and analyze service learning and its use as a component of nursing education.

Imperatives for the Service Learning Movement

Legislative

Of the forces driving the service learning movement, one that adds motivation and certainly cannot be ignored is the force of legislative imperatives. There exists a long history of laws dating back to the 1800s that were designed to ensure tight bonds between

education and the needs of the "community" or those of the country at large (Cohen, Brawer, & Associates, 1994; Naylor, 1988). Legislative initiatives such as the National Defense Act of 1958, the Vocational Education Act of 1963, and the Carl D. Perkins Career and Technology Act of 1984 (with amendments through 1999), were all enacted to meet the needs of business and industry while ensuring that students graduated with employable skills (Hoerner & Wehrley, 1996; Naylor, 1984). Notably, these acts were all directed towards Occupational or Vocational (now termed Career/Technical) programs.

Although not the first legislation to direct educational trends, the Secretary's Commission on Achieving Necessary Skills (SCANS) (1992a, 1992b) was of early impact on the acceptance of service learning. Established by the then Secretary of Labor, Elizabeth Dole, this legislative directive initially sought to define the entry-level skills required to prepare our "youth" for the modern workplace. The ensuing SCANS report was meant to guide vocational directives to prepare high school graduates for the "world of work" (Hoerner & Wehrley, 1996; Wetzel, 1992).

The SCANS report identified the basics required by business and industry, to include foundation skills in basic communication (e.g. reading, writing, speaking, listening), mathematics, thinking skills (e.g. creative problem solving, critical thinking, reasoning), and personal qualities (e.g. self-esteem, self-management, integrity).

Competencies required at work and included in the SCANS report included resource management (e.g. organization, planning, time management), interpersonal skills (e.g. leadership, working with diversity, team work, serving clients), information skills (e.g. acquiring, interpreting, and organizing information), systems skills (e.g. understanding and monitoring work based systems), and technology usage (e.g. applying, maintaining,

and trouble-shooting technology) (Secretary's Commission on Achieving Necessary Skills, 1992a, 1992b; Whetzel, 1992). However, the early directives of these legislative efforts have since expanded to impact not only high school curricula, but also that of post-secondary education at two and four-year colleges and universities, thus helping to promote the advancement in use of service learning.

With the SCANS report came other notable federal legislation that further set the stage for service learning. Perhaps one of the most significant enactments was the 1994 School-to-Work Opportunities Act. This piece of legislation combined three requirements: 1) work-based learning systems, 2) school-based learning systems, and 3) connecting activities (Pautler & Buffamanti, 1997). In reviewing the definition of service learning, this legislation paved the way for advancement of service learning usage.

Further, the SCANS reports have led to continuation of the Carl D. Perkins

Vocational and Applied Technology Education Act 1998 (amended every five years since its inception in 1984) and impacted amendments to the Higher Education Act (HEA). The Higher Education Act of 1998 (amended every five years since its inception in 1984), has mandated that education and work skills required for the advancement of national economy and the security of the nation be opened to all citizens who are willing and able to pursue postsecondary education at two and four year institutions (Prieto, 1998;

Breneman & Nelson, 1981). These two pieces of legislation defined the parameters for curricular reform that sought the structure of service learning in both academic and vocational programs.

Throughout the nation, laws have been passed at the state level such as the Colorado House Bill 99-1289 (Colorado Commission on Higher Education, 2000). This

bill, as is seen in similar state legislation across the nation, reiterates the call for educational initiatives that meet the needs of the workplace. In addition, laws such as House Bill 99-1289 set requirements for quality indicators in higher education. These quality indicators include provision for documentation of the satisfaction and success of graduates completing postsecondary, higher education programs.

Business and Industry

The success of graduates in the work place is inextricably linked to whether they are prepared to meet the demands of business and industry. These demands were traditionally seen as demonstrable mastery of skills of a given trade or profession, e.g. being skilled at pipe-fitting for plumbing, blood pressures and medications for nursing, curriculum development for teaching, etc. To a point in history this was an adequate assessment.

If we consider a historical view, many students prior to World War II, the Korean War, and Viet Nam largely grew up in environments where they were expected to help with the family business, e.g. farming, ranching, clerking in an office or store, etc. In these environments they became committed through modeling and practice to a set of work ethics and communication skills (basic work skills) mandatory to good work interactions. All they were lacking were the specialization skills for a specific trade or profession. These specialization skills coupled with courses to enhance the basic work skills would be supplied through the academics of post-secondary and college programs (Cohen et al., 1994; Cohen & Brawer, 1989).

As the wars of the 20th century expanded industrial settings and severely cut back the agricultural and small business settings, and as the family home became a mandatory

setting in which both parents worked (or in single-parent settings, the only parent worked), modeling for communication and basic skills became constricted. Prospective graduates had lost a large segment (the work skills segment outlined in the SCANS report) that enhances application of skills for success in the work environment. There developed an ever increasing outcry from business and industry that graduates from high school through post-secondary and college programs were coming to the work place with a measure of academic learning but without functional work skills, such as basic reading and writing, the ability to communicate, organizational skills, ability to work in teams, and time management, to name a few (Hoerner and Wehrley, 1995).

To complicate the situation, assessment and observation of academic settings from secondary through the university, found an underlying false dichotomy between learning and doing, or head and hand as John Dewey (1916) described them (Steinberg, Cushman, & Riordan, 1999). In addition, the mobilization of society and the segmentation of families as well as communities created a trend within the population of individualization to the exclusion of the community. With growth and mobilization came a distancing and students no longer came to secondary and post-secondary arenas with any acquaintance or commitment to the community at large. Neither did the community at large any longer hold much commitment to the workers "in-training". History had set the stage for the truth in an observation by James Hoerner (1986), "Societies that maintain educational systems that nurture knowledge acquisition at the exclusion of knowledge application will soon find both their ideologies and technologies will erode" (p. 1). Thus the cycle was complete and the challenge to the educational community set forth both through legislation and the persistent cry of the work arena.

Student Transition into the Workplace

Indicators of Student Success

Reflecting back on the introduction to this work, prime motivators to this research are the legislative requirements of the 1996 Colorado Higher Education Quality

Assurance Act (HB 96-1219) (Colorado Commission on Higher Education, 2000b) and the nine statewide measures that would serve as quality indicators for Higher Education as outlined in the 1998 Colorado Commission on Higher Education (CCHE) report (Colorado Commission on Higher Education, 2000c; Seebach, 1998). One of these quality indicators was and is that of student success. The research conducted here extended this to graduate success, for how can students be truly successful if they cannot carry that success into the real world upon graduation?

Student or graduate success is reflected by the ability to think critically, with self-confidence, and with the ability to demonstrate ability in the applied setting of work (Grubb, 1996; Love & Love, 1995). Employers have cited all these characteristics as work traits they seek in the process of hiring (Grubb, 1996; Hoerner & Wehrley, 1996). Throughout, success is determined by the ability to perform competently, whether in the nature of socialization, directed hands-on application of tasks, or in the realm of interactions (e.g. teamwork) (Love & Love, 1995).

Dewey (1938) indicated that one philosophy of education is to take learning beyond the acquisition of information and apply it in a way that will relate to our everyday actions and behaviors. Success can be and is demonstrated by the student or graduate who is able to apply what she has learned to the employment setting. Students

(Carranza, 1998), faculty (Haskell, 2000), and employers (Hoerner & Wehrley, 1996), indicate the validity of these indicators of success.

Student Job Satisfaction

The 1996 Colorado Higher Education Quality Assurance Act (HB 96-1219) (Colorado Commission on Higher Education, 2000b) set the quality indicator of student "success" on equal footing with the quality indicator of student "satisfaction". It is apparent that these two qualities, success and satisfaction, are virtually inseparable, especially for graduates in the career/technical arenas of higher education.

Student satisfaction comes in many forms. A student may express satisfaction at achievement ratings that equate to "A" for excellence in mastery of course content. A student may find an educational experience satisfying because it provides both a positive learning environment and an opportunity for socialization. However, for satisfaction to be related to positive work transition, the student, now graduate, must perceive that education has resulted in successful job acquisition as well as ability to perform within the job once it is obtained, that is, job satisfaction. Having obtained the desired employment, what then produces this job satisfaction?

In a series of eleven national surveys between 1962 and 1977, Robert Quinn and his associates explored the reasons for job satisfaction in the American workforce (Quinn & Baldi de Mandilovitch, 1975, 1980; Quinn & Staines, 1979; Quinn, Staines, & McCullough, 1974). These surveys found statistically significant positive associations between college education and job satisfaction in the areas of "financial rewards" and "challenge", where challenge was defined as the extent to which the job stimulated, challenged, and allowed the individual to use educationally acquired skills at work.

According to Pascarella and Terenzini (1991), the results of the studies by Quinn and his associates, as well as studies by Klein and Maher (1968), Mueller, Hybels, Schmiedeskamp, Sonquist, & Staelin (1969), and Glenn and Weaver (1982), all showed "modest" statistical associations between a college education and job satisfaction. The authors indicate that the "modest" quality of the results may arise from two possible scenarios. First, the graduates may have had perceptions prior to employment as to the range of work options to expect post-graduation and then experienced frustrations associated with these unattained possibilities. Second, the graduates may perceive that the job demands do not meet the educational attainments — either that he is over-educated or under-prepared. In either scenario, the authors indicate that many graduates enter the work force with misconceptions of the career outcomes to be expected, therefore lacking a smooth transition from the academic environment to the world of work that may affect job satisfaction.

The need of the students and the community group served share equal importance (Bailey et al., 2002; Simon, 1979). In service learning a critical component is the involvement of community partners. So, taken from another view-point, satisfaction of future employers must also be considered. Employer satisfaction with graduates is often hinged on how close the experience in the educational setting matches up to the real-world of work for which the student is being educated or trained. W. Norton Grubb (1996) explored this very concept in depth with employers. He found that employers who were able to compare various educational sites preferred those with equipment and training that were closest to the actual conditions of the job site. The employers want to hire those with experiences as close to their own equipment and work-site as possible.

Clearly, it stands to reason that the satisfaction of both the student in training and the graduate will potentially be greater if there is assurance that the educational experience is in line with the future or new job. Throughout the research, the over-riding thread is that student and graduate success are the result of matching the educational experience to the intended post-graduation work setting. Student or graduate satisfaction, therefore, is aligned with post-graduation job satisfaction. Job satisfaction comes with smooth transition, with few surprises, and with the self-confidence bred by familiarity with what to expect in the real world of work post–graduation. It is this job satisfaction that is likely to result in a positive relationship between the graduate and the new employer. Results of this kind align evenly with the Quality Indicator of "satisfaction" demanded by the 1996 Colorado Higher Education Quality Assurance Act (HB 96-1219) (Colorado Commission on Higher Education, 2000b).

Transition

In Robert Haskell's book, *Transfer of learning*, (2001), he states that the transfer of learning "is the very foundation of learning, thinking, and problem solving," (p. xiii), and that it "underlies the ability to think, reason, plan, and to make good decisions," (p. xiv). However, Haskell (2001) also indicates that teachers and employers alike have reported on-going concerns for the lack of student and graduate ability to demonstrate college-learned information and experience within the work setting.

The study of knowledge transfer, or the transfer of learning, has been extensive and has covered ten decades of research from the works of Edward Thorndike and Robert Woodworth (1901), to those of authors such as Robert Haskell (2001), and has run the gamut of theories forming seven basic ideas of how knowledge transfer is assured. These

seven methods can be summed up as: (a) transfer exists as the result of formal properties of learning certain educational disciplines, e.g., learning Latin; (b) transfer occurs by the recognition of concrete identical elements between two environments or situations experienced in the educational setting and again in the "real world" (Thorndike & Woodworth, 1901); (c) transfer results from the application of general learned principles from particular events (Judd, 1908); (d) transfer occurs by stimulus generalization from a repeated experience to a setting where the stimulus (work) is similar to that experienced in the educational setting (Kalish, 1969; Mostofsky, 1965), (e) and the induction of cognitive schema (Thorndyke & Hayes-Roth, 1979); (f) transfer is promoted by the delineation and use of metacognitive strategies, that is self-reflection by the learner on the learned experience (Borkowski, 1985) (e.g. use of reflective journaling); and (g) transfer is a property of the characteristics of each individual learner (Haskell, 2001, p. 89). Haskell (2001) asserts, "each model has a role to play in transfer," and, "Each model may be more appropriate for certain kinds of transfer material (e.g., technical vs. theory based), for near and far transfer, or for different learning situations" (p. 89).

In a study of the effects of career preparation experiences on the initial employment success of college graduates, Sagan, Dallam and Laverty (2000) found that "work experience related to career goals was the only experience of universal effectiveness" (p. 753). The authors also found positive conditional effects for supplemental work experiences related to career goals. The research results of this team led them to state that, "supplementary career preparation experiences are primarily asset enhancers," (Sagan et al., 2000, p. 763), for successful transfer of learning from the academic setting to the work setting.

Educational researchers agree that the success or failure of transition from college to work is related to the types of college experiences students encounter (Astin, 1996; Haskell, 2001; Pascarella & Terenzini, 1996, 1991). However, what types of experiences are of most influence on the transition from college to work may be perceived in somewhat different ways depending on the researcher. According to Astin (1996), the success of the college experience is most influenced by the amount of exposure to the learning environment, and, the intensity of the cognitive experience within the learning environment, where intensity involves two elements, the amount of involvement of students with each other in the learning experience and where the relationship between these experiences and the goal being pursued (career attainment) are in congruence. Pascarella and Terenzini (1991, 1996), assert that the success of the college experience is tied to the maturation process of the individual student throughout the college experience, the more effective the maturation attained, the more successful the college outcomes (successful transition to work or career) will become. Finally, Haskell (2001) contends that successful transfer will be dependent on the volume of experiences related to the aspired educational pursuit that will determine whether a successful transition can occur.

Although the research on transition of students from college to career is diverse and multi-directional, certain consistent trends arise. First, transition success for the graduate to the world of work may have varying influences dependent on the individual student (Astin, 1996; Haskell, 2001; Thorndike & Woodworth, 1901). Second, the amount of varied experience and exposure to work-related projects increases the potential for successful transfer (Kalish, 1969; Mostofsky, 1965; Pascarella & Terenzini, 1996; Thorndyke & Hayes-Roth, 1979). Third, educational methods that cause the student to

mature to the level of career expectation to be encountered will tend to result in successful transition experiences (Pascarella & Terenzini, 1996). And, finally, the potential for transition success can be enhanced by increased student involvement with each other (Astin, 1996), with work-related or career-related projects that simulate or directly involve students with the employer-based world (Haskell, 2001; Kalish, 1969; Mostofsky, 1965; Sagan, Dallam & Laverty, 2000), and by reflective processes during the learning experiences (Borkowski, 1985).

Theoretical Models

With this in mind, five theoretical models are considered here to serve as the 'philosophical framework' from which to begin this research. The first two theories, Stern's Need x Press Theory and Pervin's Transaction Model, address the concept of environmental congruence. The next three theories address knowledge transfer and are considered here as they may apply to transition from the academic setting to the work setting. Each of the theoretical models that follow discusses 'constructed environments' for learning and/or knowledge transfer. Although some of these were proposed at a time when quantitative analysis was either the preferred or only recognized form of research, each discusses the qualitative precept "assuming that environments are understood best through the collective perceptions of the individuals within them" (Strange & Banning, 2001, p. 86).

Environmental Congruence

George Stern (1970) first proposed his Need x Press Culture Theory in his authored text, *People in Context*. In this text, Stern described an interrelationship between psychological needs, those internal forces that drive a person's behavior and

environmental press, and the external situations that impact human response. Stern's theory evolved in response to the work of Kurt Lewin (1936), who wrote, "Every scientific psychology must take into account whole situations, i.e., the state of both person and environment" (p. 12).

Stern determined that the only way to address both psychological needs and environmental press was through an examination of an individual's behavior (Walsh, 1973). Needs drive the person from within and represent a set of personal objectives that the individual is trying to achieve. These become the "characteristic spontaneous behaviors manifested by the individuals in their life transactions" (Stern, 1970, p. 7). Environmental press is viewed as the implied values of a social setting, where social refers to the world around the individual. Stern states, "In the ultimate sense of the term, press refers to the phenomenological world of the individual, the unique and inevitably private view each person has of the events in which he takes part" (p. 7). Since the theorist suggests that this environmental press is a 'private view', it is valid to adopt the philosophy that an address of the private perceptions of the student or a graduate in a qualitative study would be consistent with the guidance of this theory.

The second theory to address person-environment interaction is Pervin's Transactional Approach. According to Walsh (1973), Pervin's theory is phenomenologically oriented. This theory, or approach, focuses on the interactions and transactions between a person and the environment through the self-reported perceptions, and reactions to those perceptions, by each individual in the study (Pervin, 1968). This theorist studied student perceptions of the perceived self and the ideal-self. Pervin

theorized that a student who saw a greater congruence between the perceived self and the ideal-self would experience a higher degree of performance and satisfaction.

According to Walsh (1973), Pervin's Transactional Approach explored student perceptions of dissonance within the college environment and satisfaction as a function of student-college interaction. Pervin's theory serves as an additional underpinning to this study in two ways. First, the Transactional Approach under-girds the philosophy that student perceptions are a true reflection of student satisfaction. Second, as Pervin addressed environmental fit, his theory contends that a higher degree of fit (within an environment) would increase student satisfaction and success. Although Pervin's theory attempts to examine student perceptions of the impact of student-college interaction on student success in the college environment, the theory set the stage for a similar exploration in this study. What are graduated registered nurse's perceptions of the student-service learning experience and its impact on the graduate's satisfaction and success in the transition from college to the world of work?

Knowledge Transfer

The three theories that will follow address situated learning and knowledge transfer. The first of these three is Vygotsky's Theory of Situated Learning. Vygotsky was a psychologist and an educational theorist who lived in and pursued theoretical research from 1917 to his death in 1938 in the then Soviet Union. However, it is note worthy that Leon Vygotsky's personal work on this theory did not end with his death in 1938. It was his endeavor, in the last years of his life, to surround himself with a circle of gifted young theorists, to envision theories worth pursuit, and to empower them to carry on that pursuit following his death. Vygotsky's work centered on the development and

learning of young children and how knowledge translates into behavioral changes (Cole, John-Steiner, Scribner, and Souberman, 1978). Vygotsky believed that research must allow for the subjects (of the study) to participate in a variety of observed activities rather than just controlled and rigid experiments (Vygotsky, 1925). According to Cole et al. (1978), the implication of Vygotsky's theoretical approach is that "experimental results will be qualitative as well as quantitative in nature...To some, such findings may seem merely anecdotal: Vygotsky maintained that if carried out objectively and with scientific rigor, such observations have the status of validated fact" (p. 14).

Vygotsky (1925), in discussing his theoretical approach referred to a structure of behavior that is 'mediated'. Essentially, he indicated that knowledge translates into behavior when there is a 'mediating link' between them (Cole et al., 1978). This might otherwise be referred to as a bridge between knowledge acquisition and the ability to apply that knowledge in a behavioral way. According to Vygotsky (1925), the development of the higher forms of behavior occurs through a relation between human beings and their environment. The development of these behaviors "is characterized by complicated, qualitative transformations of one form of behavior into another," (Cole et al., 1978, p. 19).

Vygotsky's work explored, in depth, the transformation of abstract intelligence into practical activity. His theorist-successors found that there is a "zone of proximal development" in the ability to move from knowledge acquisition to independent application of that knowledge. This zone represents the distance between achieving an actual level of developmental change and the level at which the learner still needs to depend on collaboration with more capable peers or the instructor/mentor (Cole et al.,

1978). It is at this 'zone of development' that the service learning experience is introduced. Although Vygotsky and his followers pursued knowledge transfer to practical activity through the development of children, the elements of his research lend an additional dimension to the exploration of the insights of graduated nurses who were interviewed for this study. This theory set a foundation for exploration, through graduated nurses' reflection, of whether service learning provides a venue for transition from academic knowledge to the application of that knowledge in the work environment.

The educational psychologist Henry Ellis (1965) describes the Theory of Knowledge Transfer in *The Transfer of Learning*. Early in the text Ellis emphasizes that learning does not occur in a vacuum, rather we build on what we already have experienced. To frame this in another way, we build on the schema of prior learning (Cross & Steadman, 1996; Gaff, Ratcliff, & Associates, 1997). Ellis elaborates on this perspective demonstrating that five major elements impact whether knowledge transfer occurs.

The first impact on knowledge transfer is task similarity. If tasks in two separate environments, for example, the college classroom or service learning site and the work environment experienced following graduation, then transfer of knowledge from one environment to the other is more likely to occur. Second, if instruction involves repetitive task performance, the repeated practice increases the potential for transfer of knowledge. Third, the learning must go beyond repetitive to being done multiple times with short time spans between repetitions for the knowledge to internalize and assure transfer. Fourth, desired tasks must be learned in a variety of related experiences along with other related tasks for the knowledge to transfer beyond simple repetition. Finally, for transfer

of knowledge to be optimally successful, the similarity of tasks and the goal of knowledge transfer into a new environment must be explicitly pointed out to the students involved (Ellis, 1965).

The use of service learning as a curricular approach attempts to place the student in a position where she can practice learned skills, repetitively, while developing workplace ethics and abilities such as teamwork, organizational skills, and community awareness (Bailey et al., 1999; Hales, 1997; Poirrier, 2001). Since the elements of task similarity, performance repetition, and student involvement are each reflected in Ellis' Theory of Knowledge Transfer, this theory adds credence to the exploration of graduated nurse perceptions along these lines in relation to the experience of service learning.

The next theory or model for philosophical consideration in this study is the Low Road/High Road Model of Transfer proposed by D. N. Perkins and Gavriel Salomon (1988, 1989). This model describes how knowledge acquired or learned in one context is transferred to another context by near transfer, far transfer, low road transfer, or high road transfer. In addition, this model discusses impediments to transfer in the context of negative transfer and local transfer conditions.

The ability to transfer knowledge from one context to another or from one setting to another is an expected outcome of "good" teaching. This expectation is carried by the instructor, by the student, by employers, and by the government funding agencies.

Colleges and schools in general educate so that graduates transfer knowledge first from one school subject to another, and then "from school subjects to life outside of school.

One hopes that students will become better creative and critical thinkers in the many contexts that invite a thoughtful approach – making important life decisions, casting

votes, interacting with others equitably, engaging in the productive pursuits" such as in the place of employment (Perkins & Salomon, 1988, p. 23).

Using an analogy of going from a car with an automatic transmission to a truck with an automatic transmission, Perkins and Salomon (1998) give a visual reference for near transfer. In other words, it is a "short step" to take a learned ability from one context into another (1988). In contrast, far transfer is demonstrated through the use of a Shakespearian metaphor where the reader is asked to compare a rental "lease" to a "season" of the year. In this example, the theorists describe a far transfer. The reader must have knowledge of the attributes of each term (lease and summer) and then must sort out through prior experience how they are similar. To give further understanding, Perkins and Salomon (1988) point out that near transfer usually carries a physical skill over to another context while far transfer carries associated knowledge over to another context.

Central to the model presented by Perkins and Salomon (1988) are two distinctly different mechanisms of transfer – low road transfer and high road transfer. Low road transfer is the "automatic triggering of well practiced routines in circumstances where there is considerable perceptual similarity to the original learning context" (p. 25), e.g. performing blood pressures in the clinical lab of a medical program set up like a medical environment and performing the same procedure in a doctor's office. Low road transfer depends on the strong overlapping similarity of two settings and the reflexive use of a well-learned repetitive skill.

High road transfer goes well beyond low road transfer in its ability to abstract ideas. "By definition, high road transfer depends on deliberate mindful abstraction of skill

or knowledge from one context for application in another," (Perkins & Salomon, 1988, p. 25). In high road transfer the settings for application of knowledge may have very little superficial similarity. For example, high road transfer might be illustrated by knowledge transfer of teamwork capabilities learned through the planning and delivery of a community service project to the work setting of a business office, aviation setting, or auto body shop. Low road transfer is almost always "near" transfer, because there is surface similarity between the contexts (or environments) where the knowledge was obtained and to which it is being transferred.

High road transfer also comes in two types – forward reaching and backward reaching. When a person uses forward reaching high road transfer, she uses acquired knowledge from one setting to plan for application projects elsewhere. In backward reaching high road transfer, the person finds herself in a problematic situation and converts (or abstracts) knowledge from one setting to formulate a solution to her current problem in her current setting. "High road transfer always involves reflective thought in abstracting from one context and seeking connections with others," (Perkins & Salomon, 1988, p. 26). In contrast to the low road transfer, high road knowledge transfer can bridge between remote contexts, given that there is deliberate effort on the person's part to make connections and to abstract the knowledge to fit the new context. A key element of service learning is the reflective process. According to Perkins and Salomon (1988), embracing low road/high road transfer is not a passive endeavor. Rather, the skills to facilitate either type of transfer must be learned "by designing instruction to meet the conditions needed to foster transfer" (p. 28). The theorists refer to two types of teaching, "hugging" and "bridging". When teaching the hugging method that is characteristic of

low road transfer, the instructor strives to create a strong resemblance between the learning environment and the environment to which the knowledge will be transferred. Bridging, however, requires a more involved instructional plan. Thus, the service learning process is intended to assist the student in development of low road transfer of learned techniques, such as physical body assessment (hugging), and the use of high road transfer, such as reflective critical transfer of patient teaching techniques or problemsolving strategies (bridging), from curricular precepts into the practical environment of the service learning experience.

As with Vygotsky's Theory of Situated Learning (Cole et al., 1973; Vygotsky, 1925), Perkins and Salomon (1988) indicate that instructors must provide mediating experiences to encourage abstraction of knowledge and transfer connection making between dissimilar environments (Delclos, Littlefield, & Bransford, 1985). In other words, "bridging" is only accomplished if an instructional program is teaching in a manner that draws out intentional abstraction.

This model insists that students must be placed in learning settings where they are deliberately provoked to think about how they approach tasks outside the environment in which they are learning. Students must be taught to develop skills of "learning for transfer" (Perkins & Salomon, 1988, p. 30).

The theorists conclude that students can only be pressed to abstract knowledge by being compelled to develop methods of reflection in which "they monitor their own mental processes" (Perkins & Salomon, 1988, p. 31). Reflective learning leads to reflective methods of knowledge transfer (high road transfer). Most people learn to be reactive to a problem rather than responsive. When a person is reactive, he fails to allow

sufficient time to abstract through either forward thinking or backward thinking highroad transfer of knowledge. Reflective thinking, is a skill that provides "learning for transfer" and can be accomplished through role-playing, written consideration of scenario solutions, or through developing the practice of journaling. Journaling and reflection are integral pieces of the Service Learning Model considered in this study. Perkins & Salomon's Model of Low Road/High Road Transfer, while not at any time specifically referring to the teaching pedagogy of service learning, does concur with certain elements characteristic of service learning (using dissimilar environments for contextual learning and application of reflective techniques for knowledge application). This model lends strong foundation for exploration of the techniques of service learning as a curricular pedagogy to promote knowledge transfer in transition from the Associate Degree nursing classroom or lab to the work setting after graduation.

Five theories or models were considered here to serve as the 'philosophical framework' from which this research of graduated nurses' perceptions around service learning and its impact on transition to the initial clinical work setting was guided.

Although the basic interpretive qualitative study remains inductive and does not depend on theories and models in advance of a study, knowledge of these models allowed for thoughtful processing of the interviews that were obtained from graduated and working registered nurses who experienced service learning and transitioned into the clinical work setting. In Chapter Five - The Conclusions and Recommendations chapter, these theories and models are considered once again.

Service Learning

Service Learning is an educational experience that links the student, the learning institution, and the community in a partnership of reciprocal learning and mutual benefit (Bailey et al., 2002; Barnett, 1996; Burr, 1999; Seifer, 2001; Upcraft, Gardner, & Associates, 1990). This mode of learning incorporates program-based learning, applications of classroom learned principles and skills, community member involvement as partners in teaching and learning, with student reflection through use of critical thinking. More specifically, the National Community Service Trust Act of 1993 defines service learning as:

...a method under which students or participants learn and develop through active participation in thoughtfully organized service that is conducted in and meets the needs of a community and is coordinated with an elementary school, secondary school, institution of higher education, or community-service program, and with the community, helps foster civic and social responsibility, is integrated into and enhances the academic curriculum of the student's program or the educational competencies of the community-service program in which the participants are enrolled, and includes structured time for the students and participants to reflect on the service experience (p. 10).

Perhaps the earliest form of connecting a student to his community to serve while learning was the apprenticeship, a form of learning through experience extending back centuries. The concept of linking an educational experience to community interaction dates back to the early 1900s if not earlier. In *Democracy and Education*, John Dewey

(1916) was perhaps the first to emphasize the importance for educators to connect the educational experience of students to the communities where they live are educated, and where they will eventually work. This educational methodology became entitled "service learning" as structured learning experiences in the 1960s and 1970s and developed over the decades that followed into a teaching pedagogy that connects the service experience to program curriculum in a "reciprocal educational experience" (Bailey et al., 2002, p. 433).

Components of Service Learning

Authors of several recent articles and publications on service learning note that there has been no comprehensive agreement on a single definition for this teaching/learning pedagogy (Kozeracki, 2001; Seifer, 2002; Zlotkowski, 2001). A 1979 article by Robert Sigmon provides one of the earliest definitions of service learning. In his article, Sigmon outlines three major principles for service learning. The first component is reciprocal learning. According to Sigmon, students become engaged in a service project in which the community members who receive the service and the students are each expected to receive an equal benefit from the experience. Second, faculty and the community representatives collaboratively define the service learning experience so that they share clear and common goals. And, finally, the students' experience includes structured meetings with the community members and the faculty where problem solving and strategizing is done collaboratively. This third element has come to be called structured reflection. Reflection is defined as:

"...the process of creating and clarifying the meaning of experience (present or past) in terms of self (self in relation to self and self in relation to the world). The

outcome of the process is changed conceptual perspective. The experience that is explored and examined to create meaning focuses around or embodies a concern of central importance to the self (Boyd & Fales, 1983, p. 101).

According to Bailey, et al (1999), Sigmon's definition gets at the heart of all true service learning experiences.

In 1990, President Bush signed the National Community Service Act of 1990. President Clinton followed suit by signing the National and Community Service Act of 1993. Both pieces of legislation were aimed at revitalizing a spirit and an ethic of service across the United States. In response to these pieces of legislation, the American Association of Community Colleges (AACC) (1995) proposed curricular directives that included refocusing on educational experiences that included community service activities, civics requirements for graduation, experiential learning techniques (e.g. practicums and internships), and service learning. The AACC defined service learning as an "instructional methodology [that] integrates community service with academic instruction as it focuses on critical, reflective thinking and civic responsibility" (American Association of Community Colleges, 1995, p. 1). Listing the components separately, the AACC indicates three components, 1) integration of service and instruction, 2) critical, reflective thinking (presumably by the students), 3) and an emphasis in the curriculum on civic responsibility. However, the definition is loose in comparison to others such as those of Furco (1996), Mintz and Liu (1994), Howard (1993), and Sigmon (1979), in that it does not define how these components are to be addressed nor does it emphasize an equal partnership in the process of curriculum

development, goal setting, teaching, or program evaluation between the community agency and the faculty.

In 1993, Jeffrey Howard of the Kellogg Faculty Committee on Service learning at the University of Michigan outlined the components of an educational program that constituted their definition of service learning. The committee summarized this educational format into six components:

Service-learners:

- 1. Apply knowledge by testing and applying academic learning.
- 2. Synthesize knowledge by bringing together past and present learning, giving coherence to students' studies.
- 3. Critically think and analyze by learning, to distinguish what is not important in the unfiltered context of the real world.
- 4. Learn about cultural diversity by learning with, from, and about people of other races, ages, economic means, and competencies.
- 5. Develop values through first-hand interaction with community issues.
- 6. Learn inductive reasoning by using the specific as an embarkation point for hypothesizing and theorizing. (Howard, 1993, p.15)

Within document searches in the ERIC database, a keyword search turned up articles describing programs that do not even use the term "service learning" in their documentation, such as with Miami-Dade Community College's (M-DCC) "Comprehensive Neighborhood Quality of Life Enrichment Program" (1991). Keyword searches are based on terms provided by the authors or publishers to facilitate access to relevant materials for research and study of a given subject matter. M-DCC defines the

components of this program as being founded on "the principles of holism – that is, treating people as individuals with many complex and 'all-at-once' needs – as well as principles of prevention, and community synergy" (p. 1). According to M-DCC, synergy is derived from "consensus-building" gained through inclusion and authorship of the program by the individuals being served by the project. In a later article Robert Exley (1996) notes that service alone does not make a project "service learning". Using M-DCC guidelines, he notes that service learning must also include a component of active guided reflection, encouragement of students to become productive citizens, and provision of "a more formalized service learning effort [that] includes the overt goal of reinvigorating individual commitment to community good" (1996, p. 36).

Yet another definitional viewpoint on service learning is provided by Mintz & Liu (1994). These authors view service learning as a method and philosophy of experiential learning. This definition lists only two core elements to the methodology: "(1) service activities that help meet community needs that the community finds important, and (2) structured educational components that challenge participants to think critically about and learn from their experiences" (p. 9). Once again this definition is contrary to that of other authors who specifically state that service learning goes beyond experiential learning specifically in the areas of collaboration with the community agencies to define, teach, and evaluate the service learning experience (Bailey et al., 1999; Seifer, 2002) or who indicate that experiential learning is only a component of service learning (Bailey, Carpenter, & Harrington, 2002).

Author and educator Arthur Furco (1996) has written several books on service learning and the service learning experience. Furco states, "Each program type is defined

by the intended beneficiary of the service activity and its degree of emphasis on service and/or learning" (p. 3). As with Bailey, et al (2002), Furco further defines service learning as being akin to but different from experiential learning. Furco states, "Service learning programs are distinguished from other approaches to experiential education by their intention to equally benefit the provider and the recipient of the service as well as to ensure equal focus on both the service being provided and on the learning that is occurring" (1996, p.5). Furco's definition shows some flexibility in that it allows the elements to be defined differently with each service learning effort dependent on commitment levels by the community.

Clearly, there are differing perspectives on the exact definition of the service learning pedagogy. However, amidst these definitions, there are common elements as outlined by Sarena Seifer and Kara Connors for the "Partners in Caring and Community" projects (2001). These authors used the definitions in the literature to encapsulate the service learning definition as a teaching methodology that combines community service with specific "learning objectives, preparation, and high-level reflective activities... [to] provide direct community service while learning the connections between the context in which the service is provided," their curriculum, and their future career roles (Seifer & Connors, 2001, p. 3).

Service Learning in Nursing Education

Sarena Seifer and Rachel Vaughn are nursing educators and researchers in the area of service learning within nursing education. According to Seifer and Vaughn (2002), educational methodology for nursing has always included clinical experiential learning. The emphasis until the mid-1960s was forever on the low road transfer of skills

from the college or training lab, outfitted as closely as possible to the bedded-medical environment, to the hospital or nursing-home setting. With the onset of the 21st Century, medicine saw the inception of Managed Care, a formulated transition from facility-based nursing to community-based nursing as the dominant trend.

This dynamic shift prompted the National League of Nursing (NLN) to formulate a response to these emerging trends. The mission statement of the NLN states: "The National League for Nursing promotes excellence in nursing education to build a strong and diverse nursing workforce" (National League of Nursing, 2009b). The National League of Nursing Accreditation (NLNAC) is a national programmatic accrediting body for both Associate Degree and Bachelor Degree nursing programs setting standards for nursing excellence across the United States. In 2008 the Board of Governors of the National League of Nursing approved list of foci for nursing education to create reform through innovations in nursing education that address the trends of the 21st century. Innovations recommended for creating reform in nursing education included community driven models for curriculum development that incorporated community-based nursing and service learning strategies (National League of Nursing, 2009b).

The American Association of Colleges of Nursing (AACN – a national programmatic accrediting body for BSN and graduate nursing programs) in response to these trends of transition into the 21st century were prompted to address the importance of community and service in its 1999 position statement, *Nursing Education's Agenda for the 21st Century*. Within this document, the AACN took a strong platform for including community-based research and service in the curriculum, mission, and philosophy of nursing education. AACN advocated that nursing education provide links between

teaching, research, community service, practice and the external environment (Seifer & Vaughn, 2002). The precepts of service learning are an obvious parallel to the recommendations of AACN.

In the short span of just nine years, we have seen nursing progressing along NLN's and the American Association of Colleges of Nursing's (AACN) predicted pathway into an ever more intensively managed care setting with in-patient care being more quickly and consistently transitioned to or replaced by ambulatory, community and home-health settings for care (Seifer, 2001). With this awareness, nursing programs must be prepared to educate their students in community settings (sites other than the hospital or long term care) as an essential strategy for preparing the entry-level graduate with the skills needed to provide clients with continuity of care from the acute hospital setting to the outpatient settings; "practice health promotion and disease prevention strategies; develop patient communication and negotiation skills; and deal with social, financial, and ethical aspects of care" (Seifer, 2001, p. 3).

Seifer and Connors, nurse educators, applied their definition of service learning both to service learning in general and to its use in nursing programs, as a teaching methodology that combines community service with specific "learning objectives, preparation, and high-level reflective activities... Students involved in service learning provide direct community service while learning the connections between the context in which the service is provided, the connection to their nursing curriculum, and their roles as future health care providers" (Seifer & Connors, 2001, p. 3). Seifer and Connors (2001) used this definition of service learning as it applies to nursing education and differentiated it from traditional clinical nursing education in the following ways:

Balance between service and learning objectives. Traditionally, clinical education emphasizes student learning as the primary objective. SL [service learning] attempts to balance service and learning objectives. Nursing education programs and their community partners must negotiate differences in their needs and expectations when designing a SL course.

Emphasis on reciprocal learning. In SL, the traditional definitions of "faculty", "teacher" and "learner" are intentionally blurred. For instance, community agency staff and indeed community members themselves serve in teaching roles, whether or not they are formally recognized as faculty by the academic institution. Faculty need to be open and willing to learn from the community.

Emphasis on addressing community-identified concerns, understanding broad factors influencing health and quality of life and fostering citizenship skills. Traditionally, clinical education emphasizes student acquisition of clinical knowledge and skills, and focused on the individual nurse-client interaction. SL emphasizes the importance of addressing community-identified concerns, incorporating an understanding of broad factors influencing health and quality of life explicitly into the curriculum while fostering citizenship skills.

Emphasis on reflective practice. Clinical education emphasizes observing and doing, but does not typically emphasize or include opportunities for reflection. Reflection is a critical component of SL and facilitates the students' connection between their service experience and their learning. Opportunities for reflection through dialogue, journals, stories and other means, encourage students to consider the contexts of the community concerns being addressed by SL.

Integral role of community partners. Even when traditional clinical education takes place in community settings, the curriculum is often designed by college- or university-based faculty. In SL, community partners are integrally involved in the design, implementation and evaluation of curriculum that is responsive to community concerns, priorities and assets. As a result, SL provides a vehicle for integrating students into ongoing community assessment and development

SL has far-reaching impacts. Traditionally, clinical education is primarily concerned with its impact on student development and learning. SL can benefit at least five important stakeholders: students, faculty, nursing education programs, community organizations, and community members. In the college curriculum, SL has been shown to enhance the relevance of course content, change student and faculty attitudes about communities, enhance support for community projects and needs, and increase student and faculty volunteerism. In health professions education, SL has been shown to increase student understanding of community health issues and resources, reinvigorate faculty enthusiasm for teaching, and increase the community's capacity to respond to critical community health concerns. (pp. 3-4).

Student Perceptions of Service Learning in Nursing

As the service learning movement in nursing has grown, research endeavors have tapped into the observations of faculty (Harrington, 1999; Palmer & Savoie, 2001; Poirrier, 2001) and employers (Bailey, 1999b; Seifer, 2001). On the other hand, review of the literature has shown that the reflections of students on the service learning experience in nursing are either anecdotal (Bailey, 1999; Holloway, 2002; Hurst & Osban, 2000; Rockwell, 1999; Seifer, 2001; White, 2001) or have been filtered through outside observers, such as teachers, professors, and researchers (Bailey, Carpenter & Harrington, 2002; Poirrier, 2001; Redman & Clark, 2002; Seifer & Vaughn, 2002), with minimal direct analysis of student reflections. Often these attempts at reporting student outcomes are utilized to give support to contentions of the worth of the reported projects. However, without substantiation through quantitative or qualitative analysis, there is no substance or weight to this reporting. Further, there is no indication in the literature of any effort made to see the transitional impact of the service learning experience on the graduated registered nurse's (RN's) entry into clinical practice and beyond into shaping the RN's professional career and personal commitments.

Anecdotal comments made by students and reported in the literature are those that are isolated without being connected to statistically significant outcomes in a quantitative study or evidenced population response saturation in a qualitative study. Generally these examples in the literature are direct quotes from one or more students following or during a service learning experience and may be taken from journal entries, post-course evaluations or post-project personal reflections. The following are examples of anecdotal comments reported in the literature:

"I learned a lot about other people, about myself, and about my values and beliefs and the needs of our community." "[This experience] also allowed me to feel more comfortable and gain confidence in my ability to teach," (Holloway, 2002, p. 442).

"The feedback I received from other people allowed me to see myself in a different way" and "I had a chance to interact with people I don't normally associate with," (Rockwell, 1999, p. 101).

"One student spoke for many of his classmates when he wrote, 'It changes who you are, if you let it, because the focus is no longer on you. It is on helping others, on serving...in a sometimes humble but powerful role," (White, 2001, p. 96).

"The little boy spoke no English, but because of my field experience I was more confident in trying to communicate with him than I would have been without the Nightingale," (Hurst & Osban, 2000, p. 187).

"I learned that the community needs a lot of help. I never realized how many single-parent families there are and the effect this has on the children," (Bailey et al., 1999, p. 11).

Filtered student reflections are those reported in the literature as "student outcomes" with, again, vague references or parameters that do not speak to qualitative or quantitative results. Often these comments are linked to the results of a student evaluation survey for a specific course. Some of these notations speak to expected outcomes or faculty observations without any direct evidence of qualitative or quantitative analysis of the outcomes or observations. Below are examples of this type of reporting in the literature:

"An important objective of service-learning is for students to internalize their commitment to serving others, and many students will complete more than the required number of hours and will even continue their service commitments after the course is ended," (Bailey et al., 2002, p. 435).

"Often students involved in the program articulate an ability to see the 'big picture' of their work in the community and gain an understanding of the relationship between health care and social justice," (Seifer & Vaughn, 2002, p. 438).

"Many students found that working in community agencies was beyond 'their comfort zone' because service-learning differed dramatically from clinical experiences where... client contact is regimented and predictable," (Redman & Clark, 2002, p. 449).

"Service learning not only complements the practice of nursing but also provides for transition to primary health care in a nontraditional learning environment and community," (Poirrier, 2001, p. 6).

Again, there were no documented studies that were found to address the reflections of registered nurses who graduated from an Associate Degree nursing program that incorporated service learning in the curriculum. There were no documented studies found addressing transition from Associate Degree nursing programs into clinical practice in nursing. There were no documented studies found on the long-term career and personal impact of service learning on the registered nurse who had been educated in this manner.

Conclusion

The resources recounting the uses and successes of service learning, the concerns for successful transition, the legislative mandates for quality indicators reflecting student success and student satisfaction are almost exclusively presented through the eyes of the researcher or government agency. Studies in higher education are almost exclusively limited to either use at the undergraduate four-year college and university level or within the graduate degree nursing domain, with little research, primarily anecdotal, examining the community college or Associate Degree setting. Furthermore, with rare exception, the perspective of the student on these topics, presented through their own voices, is virtually non-existent.

Careful review of the literature failed to identify any studies in which nursing graduates who experienced service learning as a curricular pedagogy reflected on how this experience impacted their transition into the clinical setting as an entry-level RN or, in the long-term, as a professional registered nurse. There is no evidence of research

using either a qualitative or quantitative approach to address the concept of transition in light of a service learning experience. Ultimately, no research exploring reflections on prior academic experiences with service learning by graduates of any curricular discipline, including liberal arts could be found.

CHAPTER THREE - METHODOLOGY

"Learning how individuals experience and interact with their social world, the meaning it has for them, is considered to be an *interpretive* qualitative approach" (Merriam & Associates, 2002, p. 4). The methodological approach used in this study was qualitative research utilizing the basic interpretive qualitative approach. In this approach the individual constructs reality from experiences as he or she engages with the surrounding world (Crotty, 1998). The basic interpretive qualitative design is guided by symbolic interactionism and phenomenology. Symbolic interactionism is the meaning one constructs from interacting with society (Merriam et al., 2002) and phenomenology is an individual's personal meaning or interpretation of those experiences provided through his or her own detailed descriptions of experienced events (Creswell, 1994). Using a basic interpretive design I interviewed recent graduates, first in a focus group format and then (as necessary) in face- to-face interviews, to learn how they interpreted the experiences that constructed and continue to construct their worlds (Merriam et al., 2002). I sought to identify perspectives of nurses who have graduated from a community college Associate Degree Nursing program where they participated in service learning as a curricular component of the program and to explore the factors that defined the world of a registered nurse in the clinical setting. I asked the participants in the study to describe the experiences they had in their nursing programs using service learning and working side-by-side with practicing medical professionals in efforts to meet community needs for nursing practice and to address patient needs in a community setting. From these beginnings I asked the participants to reflect on how these experiences related to their current practice as registered nurses in the clinical setting. I listened for the intersections between the educational experience and their entry level experiences. At

that point participants were asked to reflect on their transition into the clinical setting as new registered nurses and beyond within the professional role as a registered nurse.

Participants were encouraged to explore their entry into the clinical setting as it did or did not relate to their service learning experience. Additionally participants were asked to reflect on the contributions of the service recipients to their education and on-going professional growth and pursuits. Having covered these areas of experience I sought any additional reflections that the participants had for the emergence of additional long-term impacts of the service learning experience.

The guiding question was, "Did the graduated registered nurse use skills learned during service learning in transitioning from the community college Associate Degree program to the clinical work setting?" The following research questions are considered relevant to the identified population. In each case the question relates to the perception of this population with respect to service learning and:

- 1. How did the participants' service learning experience relate to their initial nursing work experience after graduation?
- 2. How did the skills used in the initial clinical setting after graduation relate to their service learning experience?
- 3. How did the service learning experience impact the participants' level of satisfaction with their preparation for a clinical career as a registered nurse?
- 4. How did the service learning experience enhance their success as entry-level registered nurses?
- 5. How did the service recipient contribute to the participant's educational experience and on-going professional career as a registered nurse?

Design

Qualitative research has its roots in sociology, psychology, and education (Creswell, 1994). It is interpretive, inductive, and systematic involving reflections reported by individuals who have derived meaning from similar experiences (Creswell, 1994; Merriam, et al, 2002; Smith, 1987; Tesch, 1990). "All qualitative research is interested in how meaning is constructed, how people make sense of their lives and their worlds ... [while seeking] to uncover and interpret these meanings" (Merriam, et al, 2002, p. 39). This study was qualitative in nature and sought to understand the meaning of service learning as constructed by Associate degree prepared registered nurses who are former participants in service learning. Therefore, the study sought participants with specific characteristics that matched the parameters of the study questions. The study derived meaning from the reflections of the participants and the meanings they attached to their prior experiences with service learning and their current experiences with clinical nursing as graduated registered nurses in the clinical setting. I looked for any intersections between their reflections on the experiences and their transitions from student to licensed clinician.

Unlike quantitative research where the focus is on finding a single meaning or interpretation of reality, qualitative research acknowledges that reality has multiple meanings as constructed by the individuals experiencing a given process or event (Burns & Grove, 2007; Creswell, 1994; Merriam, et al, 2002; Miles & Huberman, 1984). Experiences are value laden, with meaning being influenced by the history, prior experiences, and schema of the individual (Firestone, 1987; Guba & Lincoln, 1988; McCracken, 1988). In spite of these facts, qualitative research has been found to be a rich

source of information that is reliable and accurate when the researcher takes the time and care to verify the information obtained (Creswell, 1994; Merriam et al., 2002). According to Strauss and Corbin (1990), theoretical sampling provides rich data through participant descriptions of personal experiences. Therefore, purposive sampling was used for this study to provide first-hand descriptions and personal reflections on the experience and impact of service learning. It was my task to explore with the participants their reflections and what influenced them. I sought to distinguish between individual reflections that directly linked to the service learning experience and those that went beyond the service learning experience, drawing on additional life experiences to cause impacts on the participants' reflections.

The design of this study used methods outlined in basic interpretive qualitative research. Basic interpretive qualitative research is used for investigation and analysis of applied fields of practice including educational practice. The research design includes data collection through interviews, observations, and/or the analysis of documents. The basic interpretive qualitative research approach concentrates on: "(1) how people interpret their experiences, (2) how they construct their worlds, and (3) what meaning they attribute to their experiences" (Merriam et al., 2002, p. 38). This required me to carefully record the responses of the initial focus group and interview data used to explore and follow-up on participant reflections. In addition, it was imperative that the responses were carefully transcribed for accuracy. Finally, I analyzed the findings through a constant comparative format to discern patterns and trends in the responses. A total of 15 participants were included in the study. Data collection proceeded until saturation and redundancy of the emergent data themes were identified.

Participants and Sites

To ascertain viable participants for this study, I first identified Associate Degree Nursing programs that incorporated true service learning experiences. Associate Degree Nursing programs are all RN preparatory by definition. The program chosen had to have common defining factors for the service learning experience to include: (1) an educational philosophy that emphasized engaged learning with the goal of social responsibility (Kendall, 1990), (2) an active partnership between the college program and community members, reciprocal in nature, who served in the capacity of advisors to the program, instructors within the service learning experience, and evaluators of the students in the service learning endeavor, (3) a service learning experience that was experiential, involving direct provision of health or illness nursing care or education by nursing students to actual clients within the community, and (4) with the provision that the nursing students involved in the defined service learning experiences had a required, organized, reflection component to the service learning experience (Jacoby, 1996; Poirrier, 2001).

Site Selection Process

During the process of performing the literature review for this study, seven community colleges with Associate Degree Nursing Programs using service learning were identified. Each nursing program was contacted by e-mail. The contact persons identified received a description of the study, the research questions, and the purpose of the study. Five of the sites contacted responded and were supportive of the study. Of these five, two of the sites felt that the connection to service learning and/or to graduates was not sufficient to offer support to this study. However, three sites expressed support

and willingness to assist, at least minimally, as on-site coordinators for the identification and recruitment of participants. Additional support as needed beyond the on-site coordinators' role was offered by three of these community college Associate Degree Nursing Programs. Two of these three nursing programs that agreed to assist in identification of participants are located in the mid-Atlantic and southern states along the east coast of the United States. The third site is in the mid-west. One of the mid-Atlantic and southern community colleges was able to supply access to a sufficient number of graduates to meet the research process needs of this study. All participants in this study came from that college. Over seventy graduates of the nursing program of that college were contacted. Twenty of the graduated registered nurses agreed to participate. During the week of data collection there was an attrition of participants down to a final count of fifteen.

Working with the Site

The site that expressed support and willingness to participate received a proposal indicating the parameters of the study, the needs for and from the on-site coordinator (and from the college), and materials that were to be used for recruitment of participants. The proposal included a brief description of the research, its purpose, reasoning for choosing their site for the study, the potential gain for the on-site coordinator and the college she represented, and a copy of the recruitment letter (see Appendix B) and consent form (see Appendix C) to be used with participants. The recruitment letter and consent form had been approved by the Human Research Review Committee and was included per instruction of the on-site coordinator to meet conditions for consideration of the proposal.

This documentation was completed and submitted for review by specific administrative and faculty representatives of the on-site coordinator's community college.

In the literature review where the colleges were identified, several nursing researchers at those colleges were identified who had published pieces on teaching Associate Degree nursing using the service learning format. At the chosen community college site the published professor as well as her program Dean and college IRB Director were contacted to ascertain interest in supporting this study. The published professor was asked to be the on-site coordinator. Support and interest were expressed and the published professor agreed to be the on-site coordinator or gatekeeper for the study. An on-site coordinator or "gatekeeper" is an individual who has already established a trust and confidence relationship with the participants. The on-site coordinator provided both elements of legitimacy and security within the initial and subsequent contacts between the researcher and recruited participants (Creswell, 1994). My on-site coordinator was a former professor to the nursing graduates and a member of the community college Associate Degree nursing program selected. The on-site coordinator was asked to describe the service learning projects that her graduates participated in during the nursing program at that college and validated that the criteria for an eligible program was met. The professor at first identified a didactic class in community health nursing. Although this course ultimately served as a foundation for the students, the actual service learning project involved an on-going partnership between the nursing program and several free health clinics in surrounding communities. All of the participants in the study had spent time working in these clinics with low income and indigent populations.

Participants Recruited

Through databases maintained at the chosen college and within the identified program the on-site coordinator had access to addresses and e-mail or telephone contact information that allowed me to identify qualified participants and enabled me to efficiently and expediently access the final participants. Participants had the following common characteristics: (1) graduated from an accredited Associate Degree Nursing Program from the chosen site college, (2) the Associate Degree Nursing Program was at a community college that used service learning as an educational methodology within the approved curriculum, (3) following graduation worked as a registered nurse in a hands-on clinical capacity within a hospital, long-term care facility, public/community health facility, clinic, or in a clinical volunteer capacity (see Appendix E). The recruited on-site coordinator gave me a list of potential participants and I contacted over 70 of those on the list using a standard script for either e-mail or telephone contact (see Appendix A). In addition, two of the participants who were graduates of the Associate Degree program at that community college were also now working as educators with that college. These two faculty members asked to be included in the study as they met all criteria for participation.

As participants were identified and agreed to further contact by me, each was informed regarding the general purpose of the research and that the study was to be conducted through the use of focus groups and interviews. Participants were sent a formal invitation to participate along with a copy of the consent form that each was required to sign at the focus group sessions. The participants were offered the opportunity to review the consent form in advance so that they could ask questions by e-mail or phone prior to

the focus group sessions. Participation in the study was voluntary and did not affect any participant's current or future relations with his or her prior alma mater or with Colorado State University. Any potential or actual participant was free to withdraw at any time without affecting either relationship.

Participant Demographics

During the focus groups the participants were asked demographic questions to confirm where they obtained their Associate Degree in nursing, where each initially practiced nursing after passing the nursing boards for licensure, when each graduated, where each worked in the clinical nursing realm after graduation and licensure, and where each participant currently practices nursing (see Appendix E). This process confirmed that each of the participants had graduated from the same Associate Degree Nursing program located in an eastern seaboard state of the United States. Thirteen of the fifteen participants in the focus groups and interviews had graduated between 2001 and 2007. One participant, Ruth, graduated in 1997 and one other participant, Grace, was a graduate of the same program from 1989. All participants had more than a year of clinical experience. One participant, Joseph, has gained his RN clinical experience in community service as a volunteer rather than as an employee of a medical facility. One participant, Deborah, after working for over a year in clinical floor nursing and medical office nursing has left nursing to go back to work in her former profession for personal reasons. Deborah plans to return to nursing after her children graduate form college.

Three of those interviewed are immigrants to the United States, one is a first generation born an American, and one is married to an immigrant. Three of those interviewed had already continued their education to completion of a Bachelor's degree

in Nursing (BSN), one had a BSN in progress, three had gone beyond the BSN and were in the process of completing a Master's degree in Nursing (MSN), and one had already completed the MSN (coming to a total of eight of the fifteen participants). Three held prior Bachelor degrees in Biology or Business in addition to the Associate Degree in Nursing (ADN). A comprehensive picture of each of the participants gained through the demographic questions and through interview responses is presented in table format in Appendix E.

All participation in the focus groups and interviews was done on a volunteer basis. A consent form was signed by each participant to be included in this research prior to participation in the focus group interviews. A copy of the consent form was retained by each participant.

Although all those who agreed to participate were incorporated in the focus groups and interviews, follow-up verification interviews only involve as many participants as were needed to add clarity to the reflections expressed in the focus groups, to a total of four contacts. The informed-consent form (see Appendix C) described the purpose of the research, the right to confidentiality and anonymity, and the right to withdraw from the research. Each participant received a copy of the signed consent following completion of the consent process. Focus groups were held in a location where privacy was maintained. Interviews were face-to-face and by e-mail. Approval of the study was obtained from the Colorado State University Institutional Review Board: Human Research Review Committee prior to commencement of the study.

Data Collection

Data collection was conducted in two ways: first through focus group reflections, interactions (two to five per group), and observations and second through individual interviews and follow-up interviews. Focus group participants were given a choice of participating in one of seven scheduled focus group interviews. At the time of each focus group interview, each participant was asked to indicate in writing, using a provided form, whether he or she would be willing to participate in a follow-up interview, should one be deemed helpful or necessary. Follow-up interviews were used to clarify reflections contributed by participants during the scheduled focus groups. The purpose of the followup interviews was explained to all participants during the orientation phase of the focus group meeting when paperwork was completed. Participation in a follow up interview was done on a volunteer basis. Anyone who indicated willingness to participate in a follow up interview had the option of choosing to decline the interview process at any time. The follow-up interviews were used to expand on, confirm or clarify information gained through the focus group interview experience. All participants were contacted by e-mail following the transcription of the interviews. At that time they were asked to review the transcript of the focus group interview in which he or she had participated and to clarify certain points or any errors in transcription identified. Only five of the participants responded back to the follow-up interview e-mails. Each indicated that the reflections and transcriptions that were presented were as he or she recalled and no additions were proposed.

Focus Groups

Focus groups are a means for qualitative research to yield data with "insights into attitudes, perceptions, and opinions of participants" (Krueger, 1994, p. 19). In preparation for this research study I did a pilot of the focus group process using graduates of an Associate Degree allied health program that had employed a service learning piece in the curriculum of their program. This leant clarity to the process and better prepared me for using this format.

Participants in this study were invited through a formal letter of invitation (Appendix B) to attend a focus group at a time and place arranged at a site convenient to the potential participants. Krueger and Casey's (2000) format was used as a guide for the procedures to be used during the focus groups. A brief description of service learning coupled with a recap of the service learning experience that was included in the graduate's nursing program was included in the letter to assure that the potential participant connected with the basis for the reflections being sought. Arrangement for the time, place, and amenities were achieved, in part, in conjunction with the on-site coordinator at the community college. These preparations at external sites were made by me. Those participants who responded affirmatively to the invitation letter were apprised of the location, specific date and time of the scheduled focus groups. This was followed by a reminder e-mail or phone call one week in advance of each focus group meeting. During the week of the scheduled focus groups, five of the respondents had issues occur that caused their withdrawal from the study leaving a total of 15 participants. The sites selected for the focus groups were located in areas familiar to the alumni. Some were

conducted in a conference room with table and chairs while others were conducted at a place of employment or at a chosen restaurant. Refreshments were provided.

I served as the facilitator of each focus group. Each session was audio taped using two tape recorders, one digital and one manual. I also took notes both to highlight key statements made and to note body language or group interactions that could not be accessed through the taped meetings. Each focus group took approximately 45 to 90 minutes (dependant on the size of the group), for the actual question and answer segment with additional time required for paper work and socialization, total time was no more than two hours.

I introduced myself and shared some of my own background and motivation for this research (5-10 minutes maximum). I gave a brief synopsis of the purpose of the research being conducted including the assurance that each participant will be provided with a synopsis of the results of the research upon its completion. I asked each participant to introduce him or herself and had each answer demographic questions at the beginning of each focus group session. I briefly described the write up of this study and how participant names, location, and actual nursing programs will not be revealed. This included the assurance that references to specific comments will be identified using a pseudonym for the speaker, e.g. "Jane stated..." Each participant was given a written consent form for participation and collection of data to review and sign prior to the start of each focus group. The focus group consent form covered consent for participation in the focus group interview. As stated earlier, the potential and purpose for follow-up interviews of members of the focus group was covered at that time. Again it was made

clear that anyone consenting at that time was free to refuse the interview at any point in the future.

Each participant was given blank paper and a pencil to write down any questions or reflections that they wished to express in the event that his or her opportunity to contribute was delayed while another participant was speaking. I designed a series of potential questions (see Appendix D) to begin discussions by the participants. These questions were just a tentative guide to get things started or to get over "bumps" where a silence developed. Following the segment involving demographic information-gathering the participants were given an open-ended question to start the actual interview. The flow of the focus group was kept as open as possible to allow for the emergence of unexpected themes.

Following each focus group interviewing session I made a written summary of the key points expressed by each group. During the week of the focus group interviews I transcribed the demographic pieces so that I could begin to form lasting images of the participants and the flow of their responses. To facilitate initial analysis I used portions of the Systematic Analysis Process proposed by Richard Krueger in his text on focus group analysis (Krueger, 2005a). I used three of the five steps advocated by Krueger's method:

- Start analyzing comments and words and their context while still in the focus group interview – look for inconsistencies and elicit clarifications.
- Immediately after the focus group, diagram the seating arrangement labeling the participants, debrief the facilitators and note any repeated themes, words or phrases, compare observations with other facilitators and label field notes & tapes. I was the only facilitator involved, so I could not

compare notes with other facilitators. However, I did spend time after each group going over the statements that were made and noting any repeated themes, words or phrases, and drawing mental pictures of the participants as I labeled field notes & tapes.

• Within hours perform analysis of an individual focus group by listening to the tapes, highlighting quotes, and sharing notations with other researchers (on-site coordinators) that were present during the focus group. I had a one to two hour commute from where data sets were collected to where I was staying. During this time I began to analyze individual focus group responses by listening to the tapes and highlighting quotes (Krueger, 2005a).

Beyond this, full transcription of the audiotapes was initially delayed while a transcriptionist was located. However, the transcriptionist proved less than reliable, not responding to deadlines set, not returning telephone calls, and disappearing from available contact for six weeks. When the tapes and "transcription' were returned to me, they were incomplete, and I was soon to discover, frequently incorrect as to what was actually said on the tapes. What followed was a very long process of personally transcribing the tapes over again. Although this was a long and tedious process, it probably made me much more aware of the verbal responses I had gained. After completion of the tape transcription, the last two steps of Richard Krueger's recommended focus group analysis process followed:

Analyze the series of focus groups performed, compare & contrast themes,
 look for emerging themes, diagram the analysis and use quotes to describe

the findings. Krueger recommends this be done 7-10 days after the interviews. As stated previously, this occurred months later. However, my constant involvement with the taped responses kept me connected adequately to the original focus group interview process.

Finally, prepare the report using a few quotes to illustrate themes using a
narrative style, share the report with other researchers (on-site
coordinators, "gatekeepers"), revise and finalize the report (Krueger,
2005a). This follows in Chapter Four of this study.

Confidentiality

Participation in the study, the focus group, and any interviews is confidential.

During the focus group interviews, interviewees sometimes mentioned an employer or the title of their program; by the nature of a complete record these were present in the final transcript of the focus group interviews. However, names or specific affiliations will not be included in any report or publication of the study findings. All data is kept in a locked file in the office of the Primary Investigator for six months following completion of the study. At that time they will be destroyed.

Follow-Up Interviews

Initial analysis of the responses gained from the focus groups yielded six themes of the participants' constructed realities. These initial results seemed complete but verification was sought from the participants in the study. Each participant was provided with a transcript of the focus group session and subsequently each was provided with the identified themes. These themes were then "member checked" through individual participant verification via e-mail as recommended in the literature (Creswell, 1994).

Cross checking information using additional techniques such as the verification interviews (by e-mail) increased the trustworthiness and credibility of the data analysis results (Creswell, 1994; Eisner, 1991; Merriam et al., 2002). This was completed entirely by e-mail. I used the group analysis guide and the follow-up interview information to identify common themes and categories expressed in the groups (Krueger, 2005d).

Analysis

Data analysis started while still in the focus group interviews, listening for inconsistent comments and cryptic referrals that needed to be followed up either within the group or in the follow-up interview process. Immediately following each data collection session, data analysis continued. This started with drawing a mental picture of individual participants and reflecting on their responses, confirming a picture of each for later memory jogging by noting associative characteristics of each participant. Within a few hours of each focus group session an initial analysis of the responses was performed. Determination of common statements and repeating words or phrases were noted in field notes and the tapes were labeled (Krueger, 2005b). Since the responses were clear and direct, no immediate follow-up interviews were pursued.

Full analysis of the data from each site was completed over the next three months. Each participant was supplied with a completed transcript of his or her focus group interview to verify clarity of what was said and what was transcribed. No additions or deletions were recommended by the participants. The synthesized data from each focus group interview was compared and contrasted using the constant comparative method of analysis (Creswell, 2003; Merriam et al., 2002). Using this method I continually compared, in this case, one reflective statement by one participant with another reflective

statement offered by a different participant. The other participant was either part of the same focus group or a participant in a different focus group. In addition, mannerisms were compared or added to the analysis to corroborate what was gleaned from the reflections of the participants. Mannerisms include but were not limited to frowning, nodding, or laughing, exhibited during the focus group – either by a person speaking or by someone who was listening. Data was analyzed on the computer using documentation in a simple Word program with columns and numbering of the responses and mannerisms observed to show patterns of response. I allowed adequate time to collect the data and interviewed enough participants in focus groups interviews to achieve saturation for identified themes. The themes garnered by the research questions as well as the emergent theme identified in the responses were transmitted to the participant by e-mail to again achieve the strategy of member-checking. This involved taking my interpretations back to the participants and requesting their support or disconnect with my findings. Using a combination of methods to triangulate data added to the validity and trustworthiness of the study outcomes (Merriam, et.al, 2002).

Results were compiled, emergent themes were identified and reporting of the data analyses proceeded. Results were disseminated to the on-site coordinator, all participants, presented for publication in a juried journal, and compiled within this dissertation.

Trustworthiness

Four strategies to ensure study validity are included within this study. These include triangulation, member-checking, clarification in advance of the bias this

researcher brings to the study, and provision of rich descriptions of the data findings (Creswell, 2003).

Triangulation

Consistency or dependability was confirmed through the process of triangulation of data. The process of triangulation was used to define findings more specifically thus lending weight to use of the data for future educational planning and research.

Triangulation utilized different data sources to identify and delineate specific themes as they emerged from the data (Creswell, 2003). In this case, triangulation was accomplished through comparing and contrasting the responses from the multiple focus group sessions, the follow up e-mail interviews, the literature, and peer review of the determined findings. Peer review was built into the dissertation process through the review of my findings by my dissertation advisor and my dissertation methodologist (Merriam et al., 2002).

Member-checking & Clarification of Researcher Bias

Member-checking is a method of validating findings by taking them back to participants in focus groups and interviews and asking the individual to determine the accuracy of the themes and responses, do they "ring true" (Creswell, 2003; Merriam et al., 2002). This was accomplished through the use of e-mail communications and interviews. Follow-up conversations and interviews were accomplished totally by e-mail contact.

Presentation of the investigator's position was supplied to the reader with an open view of the biases of the researcher. This clarification supplied an "open and honest narrative that will resonate well with readers" (Creswell, 2003, p. 196). This

identification of personal relationship between the researcher and the study forms an ethical foundation for the study. It presented a pure reflection of the researcher's position and allows the reader to more clearly understand how the researcher arrived at her conclusions.

Provision of Comprehensive and Rich Descriptions

Following the analysis of data, the reporting of the study was done using comprehensive and rich descriptions of the findings. Well-presented material allows the reader to experience the setting and lends itself to a sense of shared experience between the researcher, the participants and the reader (Creswell, 2003). In addition, a clear presentation of the data collection, analysis and synthesis provides the desired foundations for determination of the benefits, rewards, drawbacks and potential value of using service learning in Associate Degree Nursing programs.

CHAPTER FOUR - FINDINGS

This chapter is directed at an analysis of the data in response to questioning through the focus groups and interviews of this study. Participants were asked to reflect on their experiences working with the community through their didactic preparation and through their work in free clinics as part of their nursing education. The guiding research question for the data analysis was, "Did the graduated registered nurse use skills learned during service learning in transitioning from an Associate Degree nursing program to the clinical work setting?" Questioning was primarily open-ended using statements such as, "Describe for me your experiences in the community nursing project," "Reflect back on your first month of nursing practice and how your [community] experiences influenced that beginning," and "Describe how this experience influenced your life as a career nurse." On occasion a direct question was used to guide the direction of responses, such as, "How did the people who received the service provided by you affect your educational experience?" or "How did that affect you as far as contributing to your educational experience and then beyond that to your functioning as an RN?" As the service learning experiences of these participants were described, three major inductive themes around transfer of learning were identified and expected: skill development, heightened awareness, and civic responsibility. In analysis of the responses, three deductive themes also emerged that went beyond transfer of learning: professional inspiration, satisfaction, and success.

Service Learning Activities

While setting up for this study the gatekeeper who taught within the Associate Degree Nursing program was asked to identify the course in which service learning concepts were used. She identified this as a first-year course entitled "Community Health Nursing." During the onset of discussions within the focus groups, the participants were asked to describe their experiences within this course. The participants indicate that within this course the students were divided into groups based on their home zip codes. Each group explored the communities within their zip code area to identify potential community health needs. Once identified, each group chose a community health concern and interviewed agencies in their area where an intervention could be planned. The project was documented and presented orally to the class as well as in writing to the instructor. The project was entirely theoretical and the actual interventions were not implemented by the students. However, this project set the foundation of understanding for how community needs are identified and how community service partnerships are formed. Although all participants in this study were required to take this course and did so, they were unfamiliar with the term 'service learning' as it was not introduced to them in the teaching of this course.

During the introduction phase of the focus group interviews, I described the actual concepts of service learning including that it was hands-on in nature, involved working with professionals in a community setting to meet, in this case, a community identified health-care need, and that included a formal reflection piece to go over what was experienced in the clinical setting. From this description, the participants identified their experiences within community free clinics surrounding or within the college as having

met the service learning criteria. All but one of the free clinics were set up by the community to meet the needs of uninsured or under-insured residents. The college had approached the community agency in the early 1990's to partner with them to meet the community needs while meeting the educational needs of the nursing students. Providers within the free clinics who participated in the student education included doctors and nurse practitioners from the community as well as nurse practitioners hired by the college to act as clinical instructors for the students. Reflection was accomplished through journaling or post-conference discussions associated with the clinical rotation experience in the free clinics. Participants spent anywhere from two days to multiple weeks working within the free clinics as part of the pedagogy of the nursing program. Responses were not catalogued on the basis of length of time spent in the service learning setting. Nonethe-less, there was no differentiation in responses that would indicate that length of time spent altered the outcomes of the experience. The experiences of these students fit the criteria of being service learning even though the specific activities weren't titled service learning.

Transfer of Learning Themes

Skill Development

All participants indicated that their experiences in the service learning environment related to their experiences in the clinical environment as an RN. The first theme of learning identified by participants was in the area of nursing skills development. The first skill identified was that of patient assessment. Statements identifying skill development in this area included:

- "It was mainly health assessment. It was mainly knowing what's normal and being exposed to the abnormal to know what that either looks like or sounds like.
 But to me it was very basic. You needed that your assessment skills when on the floor they were critical if you were to pick up something that was maybe not quite right." (Deborah)
- "Certainly I developed more assessment skills and learning to take an in-depth history. All of our clinical experiences were beneficial, but this was practical and I use it on a day-to-day basis." (Joseph)
- "They gave me the experience about my assessment skills, like I said earlier, now I am able to differentiate the sounds in the lungs and heart." (Anna)

Adding to assessment skills, most participants indicated that the service learning experience also helped with development of the vital nursing skill of interpersonal communication. For example, Anna stated, "This also comes from the learning of communication, how to talk with different people in the community that we learned in the clinics," Deborah stated, "What specific skills have I learned in this experience? I would say interpersonal skills," and Sarah said, "The experience helped me to be a better communicator and to interact appropriately to patients with ethnicity." Beyond general communication techniques, Ruth noted that the multi-cultural nature of the clinic environment brought an additional dimension, "We all had to figure out some functional medical Spanish."

In the focus group and interview sessions, the participants described working in the community free clinics as having involved managing a constant stream of patients during a finite time-frame. To see the maximum number of clients, the focus group and interview participants learned organizational and time management skills beneficial in transfer to clinical nursing as a registered nurse. Statements identifying skill development in this area included:

- "I think it made us all a better time manager, because, you only have the clinic open for so many hours and so many days of the week. There would always be long lines of people waiting to open the doors and we would all go, 'OK, who's gonna open the doors?' So, you're overwhelmed by the volume of people who come in there, and you have to be organized." (Sophia)
- "It probably also helped as far as being efficient because you were behind the 8-ball as far as time. I mean there were many more patients that could be seen at the clinic and we had to turn people away so you had to work efficiently. And that certainly helps you when you hit the floor in the hospital." (Deborah)
- "This was working in situations with people we didn't know and we had to come up with solutions or recognize problems in certain time constraints. You had to get right to the issue and that's what working in medicine is." (Mark)

Skill development gained from the service learning experience extended on to a vital nursing skill and professional nursing mandate, learning how to do appropriate patient teaching. For example, Anna stated, "And that's something that I really remember learning - that when we are teaching we should be giving them something to refer to," and Beth stated, "I remember doing so much teaching on congestive heart failure and just wanting people to understand what the very early-early signs were of heading for trouble. In my current functioning, I educate."

Yet another skill, hard to teach, but crucial to nursing, is the mastery of critical thinking. Nurses must develop the ability to think independently and to know when intervention requires referral of the patient. Utilization of this skill in nursing extends from the emergency department triage to the general medical-surgical floor environment to the clinic setting. Statements identifying examples of critical thinking skill development included:

- "What helped me was when I was put in the position of having to refer patients on to other resources. That's when the community health, that little bit of knowledge...later I would remember, "That's when I refer 'here'." That little bit of knowledge was of benefit to me. That's what helped me, doing the referrals."

 (Grace)
- "You had to assess people and sum up and come to some conclusions and move
 forward to the problem they came in with. And we had to move them on to the
 nurse practitioners [referral] and they made a decision as to whether they then saw
 the physician based upon our basic assessment." (Mark)

Additional critical thinking skills gained were expressed by Sophia and Ruth as each described how the service learning setting prompted them to develop means of addressing complex issues of prioritization to meet patient needs:

• "There were hoards of people who would come in and I remember thinking, we have to set up some sort of triage here. And, I flagged the charts and said, "OK, we have school physicals over here, we've got respiratory over here, and we've got something else and something else over here." (Sophia)

• "But it gives them [students] a little bit of autonomy in an environment to think outside the box a little bit. And you might have to work with what you have and figure things out. So it makes you HAVE to think critically, it makes you HAVE to adapt, HAVE to realize what your resources are for them and where to go from there." (Ruth)

Another enhanced skill attributed to the service learning experience was that of gaining professional confidence. Statements of enhanced confidence are reflected in the following statements:

- "Well it gave me more confidence, also, to work in a clinic setting. When
 you are first working with patients, there is a certain level of anxiety and
 working in this setting took some small percentage of that away." (Joseph)
- "I think it built up my confidence when I started my first job as an RN to have had that experience. Especially in the role that I'm in now in the drug and alcohol treatment center, I get a lot of calls from people who are in trouble and so it has given me a lot of confidence for dealing with people, for dealing with the public." (Julia)
- "It's made me a stronger person, more confidence, knowing the right action at the right time. I'm a different person, and people really look up to me on my job. I can get in there and do the best I can with difficult issues." (Anna)

Finally, nursing is especially driven by the attributive skills of compassion, acceptance, and tolerance. An example is Joanna's statements, "You understand it more, see things from the other point of view. It does help with that part. It gives you more

compassion for the people." Further evidence of enhancement of these attributive skills can be seen in the statements that follow:

- "I think, acceptance not forcing anything just accept as they are is very important in nursing especially when they're in pain or they're not in a healthy status. What they think and how they feel and how they think about illness and everything including family functioning around the patient I think it's very important to accept as they are, and then go from there." (Judith)
- "Probably just the same thing, that tolerance is a big thing. When you're first a nurse you're not sure of yourself and you know that the environment for the patient needs to be a certain way. So it [the community experience] really taught me to better interact with my patients and once I realized that I could do that, I became more comfortable in my skills because I realized that I was really helping them by being tolerant." (Ruth)

Heightened Awareness

The next theme that was identified was heightened awareness. Responses indicating a heightened awareness included identifying words such as "aware or awareness," 'awakened or awakening', 'understand', 'empathy or empathetic', 'impacted me', 'helped me to see', and the most common phrase expressed, '*It opened my eyes*'. In truth, heightened awareness covered the full breadth of the focus group interviews, manifesting in response to both open-ended and clarification questions. Responses applied to transferable skills, implied satisfaction, related to success in transition, and

involved the effect of service learning recipients on the participants' entry level experiences and career endeavors. Heightened awareness was repeatedly used in conjunction with statements such as Anna's, "The beginning, with community it helped me to see the big picture," Mary's comment, "I think that's true, I think it opens your eyes," Mark's response, "It opened our eyes and made us better," and Joseph's reflection, "All of these clinicals [clinical rotations – hands-on practice in a medical setting] were an eye opener as to the needs of the community and the less fortunate. Really, it was helpful getting to understanding about these people."

Heightened awareness manifested as both personal insight and insight into the needs of the service recipients. For example Mark stated, "For me personal growth – and getting to the top level of actualization, I think nursing is at that level," and Anna stated, "Doing the clinics really helped me know that there are so many needs of others that they really don't know." Reflections on the service learning experience were at times positive and at times negative as reflected in the following participant statements:

- "The community project was just an "eye-opener" for me to see beyond
 my small-minded borders. Does it help me as a nurse? I think it does.
 Whether or not I see like-people at work, I think it did make a difference
 in how I practice." (Lydia)
- "They gave me a tremendous insight into the actual lack of knowledge that the general public has about their own health and health concerns and that was a big eye opener for me. I remembered that when I worked as a nurse." (Beth)

- "When I transitioned I became disillusioned from the 'disconnect'
 between what I had experienced and the reality. As I became an RN well,
 you say, "Opened my eyes", well, it sure did, and I feel almost betrayed.
 The clinics we attended didn't give us an entirely realistic view of working as a nurse in this community." (Sophia)
- "My biggest transition problem was experiencing too many patients for too few nurses and there wasn't any more community. It was just reality shock." (Mary)

The service learning experience for these nurses, as nursing students, also inspired heightened awareness of core motivational values for nursing including compassion, empathy, and tolerance. Statements indicating heightened-awareness in these areas included:

- "They provided the means for me to practice. You felt appreciated, certainly, and I think it also gave you a sense of compassion with the population that you were dealing with." (Deborah)
- "You understand it more, see things from the other point of view, it does help with that part. It gives you more compassion, for the people."
 (Joanna)
- "For me I think it was giving people time, attention, empathy, and clinical skills to all your patients whether they be poor or wealthy or anything in between, right? You've got to learn to not be judgmental when you're taking care of somebody." (Mark)

Heightened awareness was perhaps most prolific in the area of cultural awareness as this outcome permeated the participant reflections both on the student experience and on their experiences as registered nurses. Although one participant denied that the service learning experience improved her success with transition from college to clinical practice, enhancement of cultural awareness was universally seen as a positive outcome to the service learning experience as the following quotes indicate:

- "It just made me a little bit more aware. Occasionally [now] we get [a patient] that is from another culture. And the nurses on the floor are fighting because they don't want to take that patient because they don't want to deal with the cultural issues that come with them. And, to me, that's why we're nurses. We're there to serve them, we're there to help them, we're there to push." (Lydia)
- "Experience I gained from that [the community experience] has helped
 me learn how to interact with people with different racial and ethnic
 backgrounds and their problems." (Sarah)
- Ruth's reflection on the influence of the service recipient with respect to her heightened cultural awareness is seen in the following statement, "They taught me that what they think is important and their dynamics their socio-economic dynamics and how they relate to each other is so different from ours and to be able to embrace that and know that is their usual... the way they're comfortable. It also gave me a better understanding of how to care for each person that came through my rooms."

Civic Responsibility

Responses to this question of transference from academia to the professional career of nursing most directly addressed the third theme, that of increased civic responsibility. For example, Judith stated, "It has affected me to think about – like I say – I want to give back to the community," and Julia responded, "It makes me feel more and more that proper health care should be a right not a privilege... not a privilege for the few," and Deborah said, "To offset that burden we have in this country as far as immigrant population – what to do in health care with escalating costs, what better way than to enlist the students." Additional reflections indicating a sense of increased civic responsibility included:

- "In general, in my life, if you can focus more there, it gives me more
 understanding of what can I do. I can help them or friends, the community,
 in general from that side." (Joanna)
- "And I just think [the service learning] experience I have carried with me
 all the way through and I continually think about that when I see
 opportunities arise for me to get back into the community and to teach, so
 that was a good experience." (Beth)
- "I've taken it on to do work in the community and we have formed a group to provide services for those near our site. I can see the need out there. I am working with friends and every month we meet with the community and assess them and see what we can do for them. I am choosing to work with members of the church and I can see the need and thank God." (Anna)

Beyond Transfer of Learning Themes

Professional Inspiration

In addition to the three areas of knowledge transfer described above, an additional result of the service learning experience emerged from the responses of these registered nurses. This fourth area, labeled "professional inspiration," provided motivation as evidenced by a) desire to be a role-model for student nurses and family, b) pursuit of educational advancement to increase ability to serve, c) working with the RN's own community to provide health awareness for all, and d) career 'future-planning' to provide health care availability for all. These inspirations are reflected in the comments that follow:

- Naomi found that the service learning experience inspired her to
 encourage others, "I guess the experience affected me by helping me
 encourage others who are interested in health related jobs to go ahead and
 pursue getting their Associate Degree. I did it to show my granddaughters
 that they could accomplish anything they want no matter what age they
 are."
- experience brought out her focus in nursing and inspired her to continue her nursing education, "I am an educator at heart actually. I'm currently in the middle of getting my Master's at [the University] and I'm going down the nurse educator track... I enjoyed thoroughly from the beginning the education piece the teaching people... so I'm taking that down this path where ok now I'm going to become an official educator."

- Anna indicated the inspiration to advance her education and to find ways to help her community, "It really helped me know that there are so many needs of others that they really don't know. Right now I'm so, you know, I'm trying to do my Master's Degree. Now I have to look at my own community and find out what they need. Based on what I did that time it has really helped me to identify how to work in the community."
- Judith also indicated that the service learning community experience has inspired her to advance her education and to serve the community, "It has affected me to think about, like I say, I want to give back to the community. I was even thinking do I want to do community health when I go to my Master's [Degree]. I want an advanced nursing degree but I DO want to give back to the community."
- Deborah looked to future planning for her nursing career, "And you want the connection between the community nursing and school and that particular experience? It's 2-fold. It makes me want to see myself more in public policy eventually. It made me comfortable in nursing, probably.

 But it makes you want to help with the problem."
- Finally, Ruth indicated her inspiration also as a focus on future planning,
 "Yeah, and then ultimately what I really want is my own clinic I want to move back up to where I'm from in Maine and have a clinic of sorts where nurse practitioners run the clinic and the doctors come in and oversee things. So it really made me want to step into that world."

Satisfaction

Satisfaction can influence both persistence of students within educational programs and persistence of graduate nurses within the newly acquired career. Although it would be reaching to say that satisfaction was a theme that permeated the focus group responses, there were specific comments that bore on the question of whether the service learning experience impacted a participant's satisfaction with his or her preparation for nursing clinical practice. Perceived satisfaction was expressed using terms such as 'good', 'great job', 'excellent', and 'helpful'. Participants with positive indicators were spontaneous in their comments since no formal questions such as, "Were you satisfied?" were included in the interviewing. Statements of satisfaction included Grace's comment, "I think it was a good experience to be exposed to the poverty and the immigrant issues when I was a student," and Anna's comment, "I think the school's done a great job." More expansive reflections expressed satisfaction that skill attained in the service learning environment was in areas identified as critical to nursing.,

An additional insight, ultimately positive in nature and attributed to the service learning experience, came in the area of personal career awareness. Both Joanna and Lydia indicated that the service learning recipients helped them understand that community health is not their career path. Joanna stated, "It helped me know what I don't want to do, which part I don't want to get into," and, Lydia said, "After I did those clinicals I never wanted to do that again. I enjoyed them and I certainly was enthusiastic about them, but no way would I want to work in community health."

However, transition to clinical practice from academia was not positive for all participants. Some felt that the service learning experience did not present a realistic

picture of the actual nursing clinical environment. Perceived dissatisfaction with clinical preparation was stated with candor and sometimes heatedly. Terms used to indicate dissatisfaction included 'disillusioned', 'disconnect', and 'reality shock'. Again, these reflections were spontaneous as no formal rating of satisfaction question was included in the interviewing. Comments indicating dissatisfaction included Mary's comment, "Too many patients for too few nurses...It was just reality shock," and Sophia's comments, "When I transitioned I became disillusioned from the 'disconnect' between what I had experienced and the reality." All statements of dissatisfaction with transition were voiced in Focus Group One.

Success

Analysis of participant responses alluded to reflections on success in transition from academia to working as an RN. Participants' comments were both positive and negative with regard to the affect of the service learning experience on their entry-level to present careers. Those who asserted a successful outcome in transfer from academia to clinical practice were both energetic and definitive in their reflections. Contributions were asserted with confidence and often with enthusiasm as reflected by Julia, "It built up my confidence when I started my first job as an RN to have had that experience," and by Joseph, "This was practical and I use it on a day-to-day basis."

Conversely, several Focus Group One members actively refuted the influence of service learning on transition, such as participant Joanna who commented, "My experiences [were] working as a nurse assistant, working with many people and their families helped me become a nurse, not my clinic rotation," Lydia who reflected, "I would not say that it helped with transition, I think it's the life experience along with the

nursing experience that I got and took into nursing school is what helped me," and Sophia's statements, "I think my beginning [heritage, family environment] probably had more influence on [transition into clinical practice] than the clinic or the class or anything else. I would say it had no influence whatsoever on what I ultimately do." It is worth noting that all three of these responses came from the first focus group.

Conclusion

In conclusion, analysis of the responses to the focus group and interview questioning identified three major themes around transfer of learning, those are, skill development, heightened awareness, and civic responsibility. In addition, the fourth emergent theme of professional inspiration was also identified. Reflections by the participants were at times positive in nature and at times negative. However, it is clear that each of the participants was definitively impacted by the service learning experience. Analysis has revealed evidence of transference of clinical skills, awareness, and civic accountability from the college experience to the clinical work setting and personal lives of these registered nurses. In addition, analysis identified professional inspiration in the areas of continuing education through advanced degrees, impetus to inspire others, and future planning resulting from the service learning experience for the participants in the study.

CHAPTER FIVE - DISCUSSION

As indicated in Chapter One, the Office of Occupational Statistics and Employment Projections of the US Department of Labor indicated in 2007 that over one million new and replacement nurses will be needed by the year 2016, creating a national shortage of nurses so acute, and growing at such a rate, that it will impact the populace much the same as a national disaster, on a level equal to a major earthquake, flood, or, to use a more-timely example, that of a 2005 massive hurricane Katrina (Dohm & Shniper, 2007; Hecker, 2005). Furthermore, predictions found in Occupational Outlook Quarterly indicated that this problem may only get worse due to aging nurses and an aging population thus resulting in a nursing shortage that is likely to increase by 3% yearly beyond 2016 (Dohm & Shniper, 2007). Expectations of nursing graduates in all clinical nursing environments include application of occupational knowledge, clinical hands-on skills, problem solving skills, show initiative, organizational skills, listening and speaking skills, interpersonal skills, teamwork skills, good work ethic (positive attitude, timeliness, showing up), and, ability to be customer focused (Lewis, et al, 2007; US Department of Labor, 2009).

Answering the Research Questions

Service Learning Impact on Transfer of Skills

The first two research questions used to guide data analysis of the focus group and interview responses sought to elicit transferable skills and behaviors accomplished through the service learning experiences. These questions were: 1) How did the

participants' service learning experience relate to their initial nursing work experience after graduation? and, 2) How did the skills used in the initial clinical setting after graduation relate to their service learning experience? Through the analysis of the responses it became apparent that these two questions elicited similar responses. This being the case, these two questions were collapsed into one set of data responses to answer the question, "How did the participants' service learning experience elicit skills and behaviors that were transferable between the academic service learning setting and the entry level nursing experiences of the participants after graduation?"

The ability to transfer knowledge from one context to another or from one setting to another is an expected outcome of "good" teaching (Perkins & Salomon, 1988). One of the defining characteristics of an "ideal" service learning experience is the equity with which it meets the educational needs of the students while meeting an identified need of the community (Poirrier, 2001; National Service-Learning Clearinghouse, 2009). The first identified category, "skill development" is clearly indicative of an ideal service learning outcome. Skill development included: a) technical skills, b) attributive skills, and c) professional thinking skills commonly called the nursing process (Lewis, Heitkemper, Dirkson, & O'Brien, 2007). As indicated in Chapter Four, all participants indicated that their experiences in the service learning environment related to their experiences in the clinical environment as an RN.

The first area of skill development voiced by the participants as having transferred from academia to the clinical work environment was in the areas of technical skills. The technical skills identified were: a) holistic assessment (i.e., physical, mental, psycho-social, spiritual), b) interpersonal communication, c)

organization d) time management, and e) patient teaching. These skills are a matter of "near transfer" as described by Perkins and Salomon (1988, 1989). That is to say, these are skills that can be modeled and emulated.

The skill of critical thinking as pertains to nursing was described by participants as developing in areas of synthesis of assessment data leading to organization of the work environment, prioritization of tasks, and appropriate referrals. The element of critical thinking, "prioritization of tasks", is particularly valuable to entry level nurses as prioritization has become a strong emphasis on the national licensure exam (the RN-NCLEX) required for entry into clinical practice as a registered nurse (National Council of State Boards of Nursing (NCSBN), 2009). In many states a nursing graduate cannot enter the clinical environment for professional practice without successfully passing the RN-NCLEX exam. In addition to the clinical skills gained, participants voiced the gain of attributive skills that included increases in the areas of professional confidence, compassion, acceptance and tolerance. These skills are what Perkins and Salomon (1988, 1989) referred to as "far transfer" skills, meaning that they take character development and critical thinking to accomplish.

Skill development and the transfer of these skills into the work environment as an RN supported two pre-existing theories of knowledge transfer. First, skill development and skill transfer supported Vygotsky's Theory of Situated Learning (1925) that described the transformation of abstract intelligence into practical activity. Vygotsky and his followers identified a "zone of development" that exists when theoretical knowledge transitions into practical activity (Cole et al., 1978). Participants in this study identified skill transfer from the classroom to the academic clinical

environment and further transitioning into the work environment. In addition, the service learning experiences of these participants support Ellis's Theory of Knowledge Transfer (1970). Participants referred to learning in the classroom, frequent repetition of activities at the service learning sites, development of critical thinking that allowed them to transfer skills to the RN role, and reinforcement of learning both in the service learning setting and through work experiences after entering clinical practice. These four steps are the steps Ellis outlined in his theory (1970).

In addition to technical skills the participants identified the second theme of heightened awareness coming in the areas of personal insight and insight into the needs of the community, inspiration of core motivational values for nursing including compassion, empathy, and tolerance, as well as the prolific expression of increased cultural awareness. Eye-opening experiences using service learning stretched the participants to a level above the low-road transfer of repetitive skills and equally high-road in quality to critical thinking. For a participant to grasp his or her limitations and to enter into the nursing profession with first-hand experiences in community awareness puts the entry-level nurse at a distinct advantage over other nursing graduates who lack this awareness. Although two of the participants alluded to "culture shock" when entering into the clinical realms as registered nurses, by far the participant reflections indicated that the heightened awareness eased the transition from student to registered nurse.

An entry-level nurse who enters the world of clinical practice with the responsibilities of a registered nurse is more likely to persist in the work-world when community attitudes and needs are already part of the schema from which he or she can

draw. This is especially true when it comes to heightened awareness of cultural norms. Heightened awareness of client needs related to cultural norms goes beyond assisting the RN in providing patient care. This type of awareness increases the potential positive responses to treatment for the client. The entry level nurse as well as the more experienced nurse gains personal self esteem and increased self confidence when a patient/client exhibits positive response to the therapy he or she administered. The patient/client improves or becomes well and the nurse perceives his or her personal capabilities as successful and competent. This supports Pervin's Transactional Theory (1968) that perceptions of success bring congruence between the perceived self and the ideal self thus leading to higher degrees of performance and satisfaction.

Finally, transference from academia to the professional career of nursing most directly addressed the third theme, that of increased civic responsibility. By definition, service learning is to include a civic component to the experience (Bailey, Carpenter, & Harrington, 2002; National Service-Learning Clearinghouse, 2009). Use of the community free clinics met this criterion. Participants indicated increased civic responsibility by voicing personal plans for or current involvement in community service as part of her or his role as a registered nurse. Some participants indicated that this increased civic responsibility was inspiring progression from the Associate Degree to the Bachelor's degree and on to the Masters Degree in nursing.

Service Learning Impact on Satisfaction with Preparation

As reflected in the introduction to this study and in Chapter Four, satisfaction can influence both persistence of students within educational programs and persistence of graduated nurses within the newly acquired career. According to both entry-level nurses

and employers, satisfaction with educational preparation stems from educational experiences that emphasize skills directly transferable to the work setting (Bailey, et al, 2002; Grubb, 1996). The third research question used to guide analysis of the focus group and interview responses sought to elicit responses that would provide insight into how participation in the service learning experience influenced the participants' satisfaction with the nursing program attended: "How did the service learning experience impact the participants' level of satisfaction with their preparation for a clinical career as a registered nurse?"

Areas of address in the participants' responses that reflected satisfaction, implied or stated, included transfer of learning from the college environment to the world of clinical nursing and satisfaction with the nursing skill preparation as related to the service learning experience. In reflecting on the service learning experience, the responses were mixed, falling between indicators of satisfaction and dissatisfaction.

Perceived satisfaction was expressed using terms such as 'good', 'great job', 'excellent', and 'helpful'. Participants with positive indicators were spontaneous in their comments since "Were you satisfied?" was not specifically included as an interview question.

Transition to clinical practice from academia was not positive for all participants. Some felt that the service learning experience as well as the clinical rotations for other courses did not present a realistic picture of the actual nursing environment. Perceived dissatisfaction with clinical preparation was stated with candor and sometimes heatedly. Terms used to indicate dissatisfaction included "disillusioned", "disconnect", and "reality shock". Again, these reflections were spontaneous as no formal rating of satisfaction

question was included in the interviewing. All statements of dissatisfaction with transition were voiced in Focus Group One.

Service Learning Impact on Successful Entry into Practice

Entry level practice success is dependent on educational experiences that mirror clinical work expectations. The experience gained must include universal skill sets and be transferable into multiple settings including in-patient hospital settings, community clinic practice, home care, and long-term care. In addition, the "universal skills" must apply to diverse practice populations that range from medical-surgical adult practice to pediatrics to psychiatrics to obstetrics to geriatrics. Universal work expectations for entry-level nurses include technical skills, (e.g., vital signs, assessment skills), interpersonal skills (e.g., communication, compassion, relationship-based practice), and work-force skills (e.g., time-management, organizational skills, critical thinking). According to research by Jones & Cheek (2003), to achieve successful entry into practice, it is of paramount importance that nursing education create partnerships in collaboration with key stakeholders (nursing employers and nursing supervisors, e.g. nurse practitioners, physician's assistants, or doctors) if we are to both cover the ever growing need for nursing graduates and, at the same time, assure that nursing employers can both attract and retain the nurses they hire. According to the National League of Nursing (NLN), the leading organization for accreditation of Associate Degree nursing programs, changes in the health care environment are driving large percentages of nursing care in all levels of nursing practice out of hospitals and into the community (2009b). With this in mind, NLN sees the prudence of incorporating community-based nursing and service learning strategies in both Associate Degree and Bachelor Degree nursing programs.

Most of the participants in this study entered nursing through hospital-based employment. However, approximately one-third of the participants either worked in a community-based clinic or did on-going volunteer work with a community-based clinic since graduation. Although the question, "How did service learning influence successful transfer into clinical practice?" was never asked during the focus group interviews, participants were asked to reflect on how the service learning experiences affected their experience as an entry-level to present RN. Participants' comments were both positive and negative with regard to the affect of the service learning experience on their entry-level to present. Those who asserted a successful outcome in transfer from academia to clinical practice were both energetic and definitive in their reflections. They indicated use of the skill attained in the service learning environment in areas identified as critical to nursing.

In spite of noting the many clinical skills and heightened awareness gained in the service learning projects, several participants hesitated to attribute successful transfer from academia to clinical practice totally or in part to the service learning experience. Instead, respondents frequently referred to prior work experiences, life experiences, or the influence of personal or family immigrant experiences as having been the major influences on the successful transfer from academia into clinical practice. The responses disclaiming the influence of service learning on successful transfer were all voiced in the Focus Group One responses.

Impact of Service Recipients on Participants

The fifth question used to guide the focus group and interview responses sought to elicit responses that would give insight into how the service recipients affected the

participants: "How did the service recipient contribute to the participant's educational experience and on-going professional career as a registered nurse?" This question further identified the category of heightened awareness in the areas of a) health care needs of the community b) health care deficits (including knowledge deficits) of the community members, as well as c) personal awareness, and d) awareness of cultural customs and health practices. For example, when asked how working with the service recipients affected her as a career nurse, Sarah commented, "It helped me to see – to better work with everybody to appreciate individuals, work with all people, my patients...my children, my husband (laughing)." In addition to the almost universal reflections of heightened awareness, there were again a couple of dissenting comments indicating that individual participants in the study did not gain from the service recipients. For example, Sophia stated, "It gave me too rosy a view," and Lydia commented, "Did any clinical experience really show us what we would be facing?"

Other Issues that Emerged

The Added Benefit - Emergence of Professional Inspiration

Possibly the most encouraging result of the data analysis was the emergence of the theme called "Professional Inspiration". Nursing shortage is a complex fix. It is not just a matter of expanding existing nursing programs or opening additional nursing programs. Nor is it a matter of convincing more people to become nurses. To have more nurses nursing education must have both more educators and more clinical sites for hands-on training. Given the projections that 60% or more of all nursing will be moving from acute-care settings (hospitals) to community settings (clinics and home care) (NCSBN, 2009; NLN, 2009), this category of analysis offered areas of hope.

The first area of professional inspiration identified was the inspiration to encourage others to come into nursing. The participant who put forth this outcome was not just seeking to find a warm body to come into nursing. This participant had a 35- year association with nursing as a Licensed Practical Nurse (LPN) before becoming a Registered Nurse (RN). This participant had gained her degree for two reasons, first to show her granddaughters that they can accomplish whatever they want to, and second to provide herself with needed credibility for her research. Both of these motivations were influenced first by her prior nursing experience as an LPN and additionally by her experiences in her nursing program. Recruiters of this type know what they are looking for and influence some of the best candidates into nursing.

The first area of professional inspiration identified was to continue educationally from the Associate Degree to the Bachelor of Science in nursing degree and on to the Maters in Science of Nursing (MSN) degree. This is more than just life-long learning, this is the ability to teach full time in an accredited nursing program. Gone are the days where a nurse with multiple years in nursing could make a career out of sharing knowledge gained with the nurse in training. To teach didactically or clinically in an Associate Degree or Bachelor's Degree nursing program today, even part-time, accrediting bodies like the NLNAC will only authorize the use of nurses who are either at the MSN level or actively in the process of attaining an MSN degree (Colorado State Board of Nursing [CSBON], 2009). As was pointed out by one of the participants, Mark, one of the biggest factors in meeting the crisis of a nursing shortage is not providing more nursing programs, but providing more qualified nurse educators. To have a third of the participants already in BSN programs or beyond to the MSN level is a vital and

unexpected outcome. Of those who are not seeking to teach nursing with advanced degrees, most are seeking to enter community or public health nursing practice.

Next, in the area of career planning for the future, professional inspiration transferred into development of a clinic that could be used for clinical rotation sites for nurses in training. Expansion of nursing programs runs the risk of over-loading clinical sites to the point that the staff and thus the site could become burnt out. At that point, typically the clinical site refuses students. If even one clinical site does this, programs run the risk of not being able to provide the clinical experiences required by the State Board of Nursing (SBON). Organizations such as the Alliance for Clinical Education (ACE) (2009) have recommended that nursing programs become creative with provision of clinical rotation opportunities. ACE reiterated the stance of both the NCSBN and the NLN that more commitment to clinical rotations involving community-based sites is a way to achieve the necessary creativity.

Finally, professional inspiration was evidenced in the participant Deborah who will be re-entering nursing and advancing her degree to become involved in policy making for nursing. This participant was energized by her experiences in the service learning community clinic. She expressed awareness of a need for the community and an address for nursing. This is a vital aspect of professional nursing that requires commitment and drive. It also requires inspiration of the variety this RN gained in the free clinics during her nursing education. Her transfer of learning exceeds the clinical realm to a broader base of community assistance. Deborah's goals can have both local and national implications when completed.

Comparison of Experiences - Use in AD Nursing Program versus BSN Nursing Program

During the literature review for this study, it was found that there was a dearth of articles regarding the outcomes of service learning use in Associate Degree nursing programs. Those that were found were largely anecdotal. No studies involving the reflections of registered nurses who had graduated from Associate Degree nursing programs during which they had experienced service learning were found in the review of literature. This did not change in searching the CINDAHL database in 2009. It appears that this study has opened up an area of new ground. The literature does have research involving the reflections of registered nurses from BSN programs. This being the case, it is worth reviewing the outcomes of that data source and comparing it to the outcomes of the analysis of this study.

A review of the literature addressing the use of service learning in BSN nursing programs was conducted. The first study reviewed was conducted by Karen Hayward and LaMae Weber (2003). They incorporated service learning in an undergraduate nursing program to address the issue of domestic violence and patient advocacy in their community. The students who participated in the study expressed satisfaction with the service learning experience. Skills gained were in the areas of therapeutic communication, critical thinking, and heightened awareness. The participants also demonstrated evidence of increased civic responsibility. Finally, these participants, although still students at the time of the study, expressed future-planning around community involvement and persisting with the work they had started during the service learning experience.

In review of a second article by Bassi, Cray, and Caldrello (2008), undergraduate nursing students in New England were involved in a service learning partnership with a local school district to teach a tobacco-free curriculum to fourth and fifth graders. This course met the requirements for a public health course. The students who evaluated the coursework indicated that they experienced satisfaction with the experience, heightened awareness of community needs, and increased cultural awareness. In addition, these Baccalaureate students expressed inspiration to teach and sponsor further community health projects in the future outside the course requirements.

Finally, in an article by Pharez, Walls, Roussel, and Broome (2008), the authors describe incorporating service learning into a mental health course. The Baccalaureate students were paired with a community agency that provided community-based mental health services, often with the homeless. Students stated that the service learning experience resulted in skills enhancement, increased critical thinking, enhanced therapeutic communication, and heightened awareness in the area of cultural diversity. In addition, students in the study indicated that the service learning experience resulted in a desire to contribute to the community (increased civic responsibility) as well as an inspiration to serve.

There were no studies found that addressed the reflections of registered nurses.

No studies were found involving transition from academia to clinical practice. However, the perceptions expressed by the Baccalaureate students in the above service learning studies mirrored the perceptions expressed by the participants in this study. Outcomes expressed both by Associate Degree RNs and Baccalaureate students included enhanced skill development, including therapeutic communication and critical thinking, heightened

awareness in the areas of cultural diversity and community awareness, increased civic responsibility, and inspiration to serve beyond the parameters of their coursework.

Influences on Participant Responses

When arriving at conclusions regarding data acquired in any research study, influences that impact individuals or groups interviewed must be considered. These influences can alter the frequency and nature of responses and thus bias conclusions. When these influences are openly identified, it allows the research to be more cogently considered. Two specific influences were identified through careful review of the transcripts of responses and the profiles of the participants.

In reviewing the transcripts of this first focus group, it was found that one participant, Sophia, extensively shared negative experiences and feelings that evolved over several years in her RN practice with indigent populations. These comments did not actually reflect back on her student service learning experiences where she noted she gained increased critical thinking, organizational, and time management skills. Rather, her comments in the focus group were directed at experiences over several years of working in a clinical assignment with a free clinic attached to her hospital employment. When this is taken into account, the comments could imply a state of burn-out for this participant that led her to pursuit of a Masters in Nursing required in her current career change from the clinical environment to teaching. Regardless, there was a lot of negative energy in Sophia's stand during the interviewing. This negativity spilled over into the whole focus group despite efforts to redirect the comments to a more positive flow.

Sophia became both an "expert" and a "dominant talker" in Focus Group One. Her

energy and frustration in what could be called "a passion gone sour" is a noted hazard in the focus group interviewing format (Krueger and Casey, 2000).

Another potential influence on some participants in this specific service learning experience could have related to immigrant status. The service recipients in the free clinics where the focus group participants experienced service learning were indigent, under-insured, and frequently immigrants to the United States. Four of the participants were themselves immigrants (Anna, Sarah, Judith, and Joanna), one was married to an immigrant (Lydia), and one was a first generation American with grandparents who had immigrated to the United States and who were a strong influence as she grew up (Sophia). The influence of prior personal experiences in relation to an environmental setting is correspondent to the rationale behind Stern's Need x Press Culture Theory which states that there is an interrelationship between psychological needs, those internal forces that drive a person's behavior and environmental press, that is, the external situations that impact human response. Stern stated, "In the ultimate sense of the term, press refers to the phenomenological world of the individual, the unique and inevitably private view each person has of the events in which he takes part" (1970, p. 7). Each of these participants had a pre-existing set of schema that was deeply imbedded and influential to how each viewed this particular service learning experience, positively or negatively.

Recommendations

An extensive literature review failed to produce additional research studies involving Associate degree nursing program outcomes around service learning experiences that went beyond anecdotal reporting of individual students and reflections

of nursing faculty. Studies have been conducted, documented, and disseminated around the outcomes of service learning as part of the nursing curriculum for Baccalaureate students. It is apparent that nurse educators who teach in programs using service learning need to compile their data and publish so that more Associate degree nursing graduates can benefit from these outcomes. Qualitative follow-up to clinical rotations is recommended and data collection could be incorporated into the classroom schedule in the form of focus groups. This could involve videotaping as well as audio taping to catch the nuances of body language as well as tone of voice.

Searching of databases did not reveal any studies regarding the transfer of learning from academia to clinical practice with respect to Associate degree nurses. The closest reference that could relate was in the documentation from researchers regarding the concerns for entry-level nurses who are not ready for the realities of clinical practice (Smith, 2008). This research involved implementing a nursing internship for entry-level registered nurses to get them additional support and training in the first year of nursing. Smith was motivated to research and advocate nursing internship because so many graduates leaving their nursing education are able to pass the licensure exam but unequipped for the realities of clinical practice. Two participants in this study, Mary and Sophia, made reference to experiences on graduation that caused 'reality shock' and a 'disconnect' between academia and clinical practice. These assertions were consistent with Smith's research (2008). Therefore, it is imperative that additional research involving nursing education include exploration of transfer of learning in registered nurses. Based on the findings of the present study, I would recommend that nursing programs at all levels do a quantitative survey six months to a year post-licensure to

ascertain the level of transfer found in key areas. Key areas would include technical skills, attributive skills, community involvement, success, and satisfaction.

Thorough searching of the ERIC, Medscape, and CINAHL databases failed to produce any exploration of the long-term outcomes of service learning on professional growth of the registered nurse. No studies were found regarding exploration of long-term outcomes post-graduation and into licensure of the registered nurse either in Associate degree trained nurses or in Baccalaureate degree trained nurses. No research was found that explored service learning outcomes in the area of professional inspiration. In programs of nursing incorporating service learning, I would recommend that a quantitative survey be done of nursing graduates one- to two-years post graduation to track professional outcomes that may be linked to the service learning experience.

Finally, it is imperative to continue to assess data collection on future research endeavors to identify influences that would impact the participant responses. Individual experiences and schema are inevitable, but should continue to be addressed. In addition, cross-referencing diverse service learning environments to identify themes and strands that can be attributed to this teaching-learning pedagogy will add depth and validity to the outcomes that are identified.

Conclusion

It is evident that the experiences of the study's participants transitioned nursing skills from academia into nursing clinical practice. In addition, the service learning experience created a "connect" to the community resulting in future planning inspiration for the entry-level Associate degree RN. These are vital and, in the area of professional inspiration, unexpected outcomes to the service learning experience.

Comparison of outcomes perceived by these registered nurses in reflection on their nursing curriculum and service learning were mirrored in the documentation around studies involving service learning and community-based partnerships with Baccalaureate students. A conclusion can be drawn that it is the service learning experience that produces the results, as opposed to the academic level of the students. Furthermore, the outcomes of service learning can be enduring, transitioning from academia into clinical practice and persisting even in participants who had exceeded five years of nursing clinical experience. This was expressed in statements by Mark, Ruth, Beth, Grace, and Sophia, a third of the participants who shared their perceptions for this study, all of whom graduated over five years prior to this study.

In addition to the mirrored outcomes, however, this study indicates that service learning has some bonus qualities for nursing graduates. As the graduate passes licensure and enters his or her professional career, it is apparent that the lingering impact of the service learning experience brings with it professional inspiration to grow in the nursing profession and to seek to give back to the participants and the communities that assisted in their education.

Although this qualitative study involved a mere fifteen graduates of an Associate Degree nursing program, those participants were from multiple different classes that graduated over a period of years. The outcomes of enhanced skill development and heightened awareness alone are proof that service learning is a beneficial curricular pedagogy for nursing education. The added outcomes of increased civic responsibility and professional inspiration provide the basis for an observation that service learning is a teaching pedagogy that results in professional behaviors that are hard to teach but

enduring in nature. The recommendations for additional research and dissemination of results are both warranted and necessary as we seek ways to further meet the advanced nursing shortage.

REFERENCES

- Alexander, M. W., & Stone, S. F. (1997). Student perceptions of teamwork in the classroom: An analysis by gender. *Business Education Forum*, 51(3), 7-10.
- Allender, J., & Spradley, B. (2005). Community health nursing: Promoting and protecting the public's health, 6th edition. Philadelphia, PA: Lippincott Williams & Wilkins.
- Alliance for Clinical Education. (2008). Alliance for Clinical Education (ACE) Meeting

 Minutes: Monday July 28, 2008. Retrieved March 23, 2009 from

 http://www.coloradonursingcenter.org/Ace/documents/ACEMinutes7_28_08
 final.pdf
- The Alliance for Service-Learning in Education Reform. (1995). Standards of quality for school-based and community-based service learning. Washington, DC: Close Up Foundation.
- Alt, M., & Medrich, E. (1994). Student outcomes from participation in community service. Paper prepared for the US Department of Education, Office of Research.

 Berkeley, CA: MPR Associates.
- American Association of Community Colleges. (1995). Community colleges and service learning. Washington, DC: Author. (ERIC Document Reproduction Service No. ED387198)
- American Association of Community and Junior Colleges, National Center for Higher Education. (1988). *Building communities: A vision for a new century*.

 Washington, DC: Author.

- Anson, C. M., & Forsberg, L. L. (1990). Moving beyond the academic community:

 Transitional stages in professional writing. *Written Communication*, 41, 11-36.
- Applebaum, R. (1999). An interview study of community college student perspectives on service-learning. Unpublished doctoral dissertation: Florida International University.
- Astin, A. (1996). The role of service in higher education. About Campus, 1(1), 14-19.
- Astin, A. (1996). Studying college impact. In F. K. Stage and Associates (Eds.), *College students: The evolving nature of research* (pp. 66-79). Needham Heights, MA: Simon & Schuster.
- Astin, A., & Sax, L. (1998). How undergraduates are affected by service participation.

 *Journal of College Student Development, 39, 251-263.
- Babbie, E. (1990). Survey research methods (2nd ed.). Belmont, CA: Wadsworth.
- Bacon, N. A. (1997). The transition from classroom contexts for writing to the community. *Dissertation Abstracts International*, 58 (07A), 2630.
- Bailey, P., Carpenter, D., & Harrington, P. (2002). Theoretical foundations of service-learning in nursing education. *Journal of Nursing Education*, 41 (10), 433-436.
- Banning, J. H. (1989). Impact of college environments on freshman students. In M. L. Upcraft, J. N. Gardner, & Associates, *The freshman year experience* (pp. 53-62). San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- Barlow, D. (1999). Learning service learning. The Education Digest, 65(3), 38-41.
- Barnett, L. (1995). A climate created: Community building in the Beacon College Project. Washington, DC: American Association of Community Colleges.

- Bassi, S., Cray, J., & Caldrello, L. (2008). A tobacco free service-learning pilot project. *Journal of Nursing Education*, 47(4), 174-178.
- Bender, L. W. (1990). Spotlight on the transfer function: A national study of state policies and practices. Washington, DC: American Association of Community and Junior Colleges.
- Berson, J. (1994). A marriage made in heaven: Community colleges and service learning.

 Community College Journal, 64(6), 14-19.
- Bizzell, P. (1982). Cognition, convention, and certainty: What we need to know about writing. In V. Vitanza (Ed.), *Pre/Text: The first decade* (pp. xxx-xxxi). Pittsburgh, PA: University of Pittsburgh Press.
- Blair, J. (1999). Kellogg begins program to boost service learning. *Education Week, 18* (37), 3.
- Bliss, J., Saljo. R., & Light, P. (Eds.) (1999). Learning sites: Social and technological resources for learning. New York: Elsevier Science.
- Bogdan, R. C., & Biklen, S. K. (1992). Qualitative research for education: An introduction to theory and methods. Boston: Allyn & Bacon.
- Borkowski, J. G. (1985). Signs of intelligence: Strategy generalization and metacognition. In S. R. Yussen (Ed.). *The growth of reflection in children* (pp. 105-144). New York: Academic Press.
- Boyd, E., & Fales, A. (1983). Reflective learning. *Journal of Humanistic Psychology*, 23(2), 99-117.
- Boyer, E. (1987). College: The undergraduate experience in America. New York: Harper & Row.

- Boyle-Baise, M. (1999). 'As good as it gets?' The impact of philosophical orientations on community-based service learning for multicultural education. *The Educational Forum*, 63(4), 310-321.
- Bradley, J. (1995). A model for evaluating student learning in academically based service. In M. Troppe (Ed.) Connecting cognition and action: Evaluation of student performance in service learning courses. Providence, RI: Campus Compact/The Education Commission of the States.
- Bragg, D. D., & Hamm, R. E. (1996). Linking college and work: Exemplary policies and practices of two-year college work-based learning programs. Macomb, IL:

 Western Illinois University. (ERIC Document Reproduction Service No. ED396115)
- Breneman, D., & Nelson, S. (1981). Financing community colleges: An economic perspective. Washington, DC: Brookings Institution.
- Bright, D. L. (1999). Service as learning: One school's story. *Education Horizons*, 77(4), 173-178.
- Bronfenbrenner, U. (1979). The ecology of human development: Experiments by nature and design. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.
- Brooks, L., Cornelius, A., Greenfield, E., & Joseph, R. (1995). The relationship of career-related work or internship experiences to the career development of college seniors. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 46(4), 332-349.
- Brown, B. (1998). Service learning: More than community service. (ERIC Digest No. 198, ED-OCE-98198). Columbus, OH: ERIC Clearing House on Adult, Career,

- and Vocational Education. (ERIC Document Reproduction Service No. ED421640)
- Brown, E. E. (1971). Self concept and student success. *Illinois Career Education Journal*, 29(1), 27-29.
- Buffamanti, D., & Pautler, A. J. (1994). How we will learn in the year 2000:

 Reengineering schools for the high-performance economy. *Journal of Industrial Teacher Education*, 31(4), 87-95.
- Burns, N., & Grove, S. K. (2007). Understanding nursing research, 4th edition. St. Louis, Missouri: Saunders Elsevier.
- Burr, K. L. (1999). Problems, politics, and possibilities of a progressive approach to service learning in a community college: A case study. *Journal of the Industrial Teacher Education*, 36(3), 25-52.
- Cairn, R., & Cairn, S. (1991). Collaborators: Schools and communities working together for youth service. Roseville, MN: National Youth Leadership Council.
- Cairn, R., & Cairn, S. (1999). Service learning makes the grade. *Educational Leadership*, 56(6), 66-68.
- Carrot or stick for colleges. (1999, September 11). *Denver Rocky Mountain News*, pp. 52A.
- Carter, J., & Dunn, B. (2002). A service-learning partnership for enhanced diabetes management. *Journal of Nursing Education*, 41(10), 450-452.
- Chalupa, M. R., Sormunen, C., & Charles, T. A., (1997). Student attitudes about experiences with work groups. *Delta Pi Epsilon Journal*, 39(4), 197-214.

- Chan, C., McBey, K, Bassett, M., O'Donnell, M., & Winter, R. (2004). Nursing crisis:

 Retention strategies for hospital administrators. Research and Practice in Human

 Resource Management, 12(2), 31-56.
- Chang, R., & Morgan, M. (2000). Performance scorecards. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- Chapin, J. R. (1999). Missing pieces in the service-learning puzzle. *Educational Horizons*, 77(4), 202-207.
- Checkoway, B. (2001). Renewing the civic mission of the American university. *The Journal of Higher Education*, 72(2), 125-246.
- Cheek, J. & Jones, J. (2003). What nurses say they do and need: Implications for the educational preparation of nurses. *Nurse Education Today*, 23(1) 40-50.
- Chew, E. B., et al. (1996). The Business Administration capstone: Assessment and integrative learning. *Liberal Education*, 82(1), 44-49.
- Christiansen, L. (1994). Yesterday it was called civics: Today it is service learning. Paper presented at the Annual Convention of the American Association of Community Colleges, Minneapolis, MN. (ERIC Document Reproduction Service No. ED383380)
- Clark, P. (1999). Service-learning education in community-academic partnerships:

 Implications for interdisciplinary geriatric training in the health professions.

 Educational Gerontology, 25(7), 641-660.
- Cohen, A., & Brawer, F. (1989). *The American community college*, (2nd ed.). San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- Cohen, A., Brawer, F., & Associates. (1994). *Managing community colleges: A handbook* for effective practice. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.

- Cole, M., John-Steiner, V., Scribner, S., & Souberman, E. (Eds.). (1978). L.S. Vygotsky,

 Mind in society: The development of higher psychological processes. Cambridge,

 MA: Harvard University Press.
- Collier, P. & Driscoll, A. (1999). Multiple methods of student reflection in service-learning classes. *The Journal of General Education*, 48(4), 280-292.
- Colorado Commission on Higher Education. (2000a, January 18). *Executive Summary*Chapter 9 Enrollment, Retention, Transfer, and Graduation. Retrieved March
 12, 2000, from http://www.state.co.us/cche_dir/12899.html
- Colorado Commission on Higher Education. (2000b, January 18). Executive Summary

 Chapter 10 Quality Indicator System Assessment. Retrieved March 12, 2000

 from http://www.state.co.us/cche_dir/128910.html
- Colorado Commission on Higher Education. (2000, January 27). Higher education 2000 past, present and future: House Bill 99-1289, Report 1, January 2000. Retrieved March 5, 2000 from http://www.state.co.us/cche_dir/hb1289/128910.html
- Colorado State Board of Nursing. (2009). Education: RN programs. Retrieved March 22, 2009 from http://www.dora.state.co.us/nursing/education/education.htm
- Commission on the Future of Community Colleges. (1988). *Building communities: A*vision for a new century. Washington, DC: American Association of Community

 Colleges. (ERIC Document Reproduction Service No. ED307012)
- Conrad, D., & Heiden, D. (1982). The impact of experiential learning on adolescent development. *Child and Youth Services*, 4(3/4), 57-76.

- Cooper, D. (1998). Reading, writing, and reflection. In R. A. Rhoads & J. P. F. Howard (Eds.), Academic service learning: A pedagogy of action and reflection (pp. 47-59). New Directions for Teaching and Learning. San Francisco: Jossey Bass.
- Cooper, C., Taft, L.B., & Thelen, M. (2005). Preparing for practice: Students' reflections on their final clinical experience. *Journal of Professional Nursing*, 21(5), 293-302.
- Creswell, J. (1994). Research design: Qualitative and quantitative approaches. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Creswell, J. (1998). Qualitative inquiry and research design: Choosing among five traditions. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Creswell, J. (2003). Research design: Qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods approaches (2nd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Cross, K. P., & Steadman, M. H. (1996). Classroom research: Implementing the scholarship of teaching. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- Crotty, M. (1998). The foundations of social research: Meaning and perspective in the research process. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Davis, M., Emery, M., & Lane, C. (1998, March). Serve to learn: Making connections in rural communities. In *Coming together: Preparing for rural special education in the 21st century*. Conference proceedings of the American Council on Rural Special Education, Charleston, SC.
- DeLaune, S. & Ladner, P. (2002). Fundamentals of nursing: Standards and practice.

 Tampa, FL: Thompson Publishing.

- Del Bueno, D. (2005). A crisis in critical thinking. *Nursing Education Perspectives*, 26(5), 278-282.
- Delclos, V., Littlefield, J., & Bransford, J. (1985). Teaching thinking through logo: The importance of method. *Roeper Review*, 7(3), 153-156.
- Delve, C., Mintz, S., & Stewart, G. (1990). Promoting values development through community service: A design. In C. Delve, S. Mintz, & G. Stewart (Eds.), New directions for student services: Community service as values education (No. 50, pp.7-29). San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- Dewey, J. (1916). Democracy and education. New York: Simon & Schuster.
- Dewey, J. (1938). Experience and education. New York: Macmillan.
- Dohm, A., & Shniper, L. (2007). Occupational Outlook projections to 2016. *Monthly Labor Review*, 130(11). Retrieved March 16, 2009, from http://www.bls.gov/opub/mlr/2007/11/art5full.pdf
- Dundon, B. L. (1999/2000). My voice: An advocacy approach to service learning. *Educational Leadership*, 57(4), 34-37.
- Eckel, P. (1994). Building community in the freshman and senior year experiences:

 Completing the cycle of student-institution involvement. Presented at the

 International Conference on the First Year Experience, Dublin, Ireland, July 1994.
- Eisner, E. (1991). The enlightened eye: Qualitative inquiry and the enhancement of educational practice. New York: Macmillan.
- Ellis, H. C. (1965). The transfer of learning. New York: MacMillan.
- Erickson, J., & Anderson, J. (Eds.). (1997). Learning with the community: Concepts and models for service-learning in teacher education. Washington, DC: American

- Association for Higher Education. (Published in cooperation with the American Association of Colleges for Teacher Education).
- Exley, R. (1996). Commitment to community: Service learning at Miami-Dade

 Community College. In M. Parsons & D. Lisman (Eds.), *Promoting Community*Renewal through Civic Literacy and Service Learning. New Directions for

 Community Colleges, Number 93. (ERIC Document Reproduction Service No. ED392510).
- Eyler, J. (2002). Reflecting on service: Helping nursing students get the most from service-learning. *Journal of Nursing Education*, 41(10), 453-456.
- Eyler, J., & Giles, D. (1996). The impact of service-learning program characteristics on student outcomes. Paper presented at the National Society for ExperientialEducation (NSEE) Conference, Snow Bird, UT.
- Eyler, J., & Giles, D. (1999). Where's the learning in service-learning? San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- Eyler, J., Giles, D., & Braxton, J. (1997). The impact of service learning on college students. *Michigan Journal of Community Service Learning*, 4, 5-15.
- Firestone, W. (1987). Meaning in method: The rhetoric of quantitative and qualitative research. *Educational Researcher*, 16(7), 16-21.
- Florida Learn & Serve. (1996). 1995-1996 outcome data. Tallahassee, FL: Center for Civic Education and Service, Florida State University.
- Fuller, R., & Schoenberger, R. (1991). The gender salary gap: Do academic achievement, internship experience, and college major make a difference? *Social Science Quarterly*, 72(4), 715-726.

- Furco, A. (1996). Service-learning: A balanced approach to experiential education. In B. Taylor (Ed.), *Expanding boundaries: Serving and learning*. Washington, DC: Corporation for National Service.
- Gaff, J. G., Ratcliff, J. L., & Associates. (1997). The handbook of undergraduate curriculum. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- Gardner, B. S., & Korth, S. J. (1998). A framework for learning to work in teams.

 Journal of Education for Business, 74(1), 28-33.
- Gardner, J. N., & Jewler, A. J. (2000). Your college experience: Strategies for success.

 Belmont, CA: Wadsworth.
- Gardner, J. N., Van der Veer, G., & Associates. (1998). *The senior year experience*. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- Gick, M. L., & Hollyoak, K. J. (1987). The cognitive basis of knowledge transfer. In S.M. Cormier and J. D. Hagman, Eds., *Transfer of learning* (pp. 9-42). New York: Academic Press.
- Giles, D., & Eyler, J. (1994). The impact of a college community service laboratory on students' personal, social, and cognitive outcomes. *Journal of Adolescence*, 17, 327-339.
- Glenn, N., & Weaver, C. (1982). Further evidence on education and job satisfaction.

 Social Forces, 61, 46-55.
- Gliner, J., & Morgan, G. (2000). Research methods in applied settings: An integrated approach to design and analysis. Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.

- Gray, M., Feschwind, Ondaatje, E., Robyn, A., Klein, S., Sax, L., Astin, A., & Astin, H. (1996). Evaluation of Learn and Serve America, Higher Education: First year report, volume 1. Los Angeles: RAND Corporation.
- Gray, M., Ondaatje, E., & Fricker, R., Geschwind, S., Goldman, C., Kaganoff, T., Abby,
 R., Sundt, M., Vogelgesang, L., & Klein, S. (1999). Combining service and
 learning in higher education: Evaluation of the Learn and Serve America, Higher
 Education Program. Santa Monica, CA: RAND. (ERIC Document Reproduction
 Service No. ED430495)
- Gray, M., Ondaatje, E., Fricker, R., & Geschwind, S. (2000). Assessing service-learning: Results from a survey of "Learn and Serve America, Higher Education". *Change*, 32(2), 30-39.
- Griffin, M. M. (1995). You can't get there from here: Situated learning, transfer, and map skills. *Contemporary Educational Psychology*, 20, 65-87.
- Grubb, W. N. (1996). Working in the middle: Strengthening the education and training for the mid-skilled labor force. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- Guba, E., & Lincoln, Y. (1988). Do inquiry paradigms imply methodologies? In D. M. Fetterman (Ed.), *Qualitative approaches to evaluation in education* (pp. 89-115). New York: Praeger.
- Harkavy, I., & Romer, D. (1999). Service learning as an integrated strategy. *Liberal Education*, 85(3), 14-19.
- Haskell, R. (2000). Transfer of learning: Cognition, instruction, and reasoning. San Diego, CA: Academic Press.

- Hayward, K., & Weber, L. (2003). A community partnership to prepare nursing students to respond to domestic violence. *Nursing Forum*, 36(3), 5-10.
- Hecker, D. (2005). Occupational employment projections to 2014. *Monthly Labor Review, November*, 70-101.
- Herman, C., & Sassatelli, J. (2002) DARING to reach the heartland: A collaborative faith-based partnership in nursing education. *Journal of Nursing Education*, 41(10), 443-445.
- Hinck, S. S., & Brandell, M. E. (1999). Service learning: Facilitating academic learning and character development. *NASSP Bulletin*, 83(609), 16-24.
- Hironimus-Wendt, R. J., & Lovell-Troy, L. A. (1999). Grounding service learning in social theory. *Teaching Sociology*, *27*(4), 360-372.
- Hoerner, J. L., & Wehrley, J. B. (1995). Work-Based learning: The key to school-to-work transition. New York: Glencoe.
- Hollander, E., & Saltmarsh, J. (2000). The engaged university. Academe, 86(4), 29-32.
- Holloway, A. S. (2002). Service-learning in community college nursing education. *Journal of Nursing Education*, 41(10) 440-442
- Hurst, C.P., & Osban, L.B. (2000). Service-learning on wheels: The Nightingale Mobile Clinic. *Nursing and Health Care Perspectives 21*(4), 184-187.
- Ignatavicus, D., & Workman, L. (2006). Medical-surgical nursing: Critical thinking for collaborative care. Albany, NY: Elsevier.
- Jacoby, B. (1996b). Service-learning in today's higher education. In B. Jacoby and Associates (Eds.), Service-learning in higher education: Concepts and practices (3-25). San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.

- Jacoby, B. (1999). Partnerships for service learning. *New Directions for Service Learning*, 87, 19-35.
- Johnson, S. (1996). Service learning: Miami-Dade Community College website.

 Retrieved May 12, 2000, from www.mdcc.edu/servicelearning/def.html
- Jones, J. & Cheek, J. (2003). The scope of nursing in Australia: a snapshot of the challenges and skills needed. *Journal of Nursing Management*, 11(2): 121-129.
- Judd, C. H. (1908). The relation of special training and general intelligence. *Educational Review*, 36, 42-48.
- Kalish, H. (1969). Generalization as a fundamental phenomenon. In M.H. Marx (Ed.), Learning processes (pp. 259-275). New York: Macmillan.
- Katzenbach, J., & Smith, D. (1993). The discipline of teams. *Harvard Business Review*, 71(2), 111-120.
- Kerlinger, F. (1979). *Behavioral research: A conceptual approach*. New York: Holt, Rinehart, & Winston.
- Kezar, A., & Rhoads, R. (2001). The dynamic tensions of service learning in higher education: A philosophical perspective. *The Journal of Higher Education*, 72(2), 148-171.
- Klein, S., & Maher, J. (1968). Education level, attitudes, and future expectations among first-level management. *Personnel Psychology*, 21, 43-53.
- Kolb, D. (1984). Experiential learning. Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice-Hall.
- Kozeracki, C. (2001). ERIC Review: Service learning in the community college.

 Community College Review, 7(4), 54-70.

- Krueger, R. A. (2005a). *Analysis: Systemic analysis process*. Retrieved October 5, 2005 from http://www.tc.umn.edu/~rkrueger/focus analysis.html
- Krueger, R. A. (2005b). *Focus group interviewing*. Retrieved July 5, 2005, from www.tc.umn.edu/~rkrueger/links.html
- Krueger, R. A. (2005c). *Interviewing*. Retrieved July 5, 2005, from http://www.tc.umn.edu/~rkrueger/evaluation_interviewing.html
- Krueger, R. A. (2005d). *Tips for designing a telephone interview*. Retrieved July 5, 2005, from http://www.tc.umn.edu/~rkrueger/evaluation_tfdati.html
- Krueger, R. A. & Casey, M. A. (2000). Focus groups: A practical guide for applied research, 3rd Edition. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Lave, J., & Wenger, E. (1991). Situated learning: Legitimate peripheral participation.

 Cambridge, MA: Cambridge University Press.
- Learn & Serve America School and Community-Based Programs. (1999). *Executive*summary. Waltham, MA: Brandeis University, Center for Human Resources and Abt Associates.
- Levi, D., Rinzel, L., Cadiz, D., & Cacapit, M. (1998). Effects of education and team projects on student attitudes towards team work. San Luis Obispo, CA: California Polytechnic State University. (ERIC Document Reproduction Service No. ED421072).
- Lewin, K. (1936). Principles of topological psychology. New York: McGraw-Hill.
- Lewis, S., Heitkemper, M., Dirkson, S., & O'Brien, P. (2007). *Medical-surgical nursing:**Assessment and management of clinical problems (7th ed.). Albany, NY: Elsevier Publishing

- Lingrell, S. A. (1992). *Student outcomes assessment: The senior survey*. Bowling Green, OH: Bowling Green State University. (ERIC Document Reproduction Service No. ED351897).
- Love, P., & Goodsell Love, A. (1995). Enhancing student learning: Intellectual, social, and emotional integration. ASHE-ERIC Higher Education Report NO. 4.

 Washington, DC: The George Washington University Press.
- Marsh, C., & Willis, G. (1995). Curriculum. Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice Hall.
- Marshall, C., & Rossman, G. (1989). *Designing qualitative research*. Newbury Park, CA: Sage.
- Matalene, C.B. (Ed.). (1989). Worlds of writing: Teaching and learning in discourse communities of work. New York: Random House.
- Maurana, C., Goldenberg, K., Swart, J., Glaus, K., Goldman, G., & Langley, A. (1997).

 How a community-academic partnership serves as a force for change in health care and health professions education. *Journal of Health Care for the Poor and Underserved*, 8, 5-17.
- McAleavey, S. (1996). Service learning: Theory and rationale. In D. Droge (Ed.),

 Disciplinary pathways to service-learning (pp. 3-10). Mesa, AZ: Campus

 *Compact National Center for Community Colleges. (ERIC Document

 *Reproduction Service No. ED405047)
- McClenney, B. (2000, January 17). Penalizing the poorest of college students. *Denver Rocky Mountain News*, p. A46.

- McClenney, K., LeCroy, N. A., & LeCroy, R. J. (1991). Building communities through strategic planning: A guidebook for community colleges. Washington, DC:

 American Association of Community and Junior Colleges.
- McCracken, G. (1988). The long interview. Newbury Park, CA: Sage.
- McEwen, M. (1996). Enhancing student learning and development through service-learning. In B. Jacoby (Ed.), *Service-learning in higher education*. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- Melchoir, A. (1998). National evaluation of Learn and Serve America school and community-based programs: Final report. Washington, DC: The Corporation for National Service.
- Melnik, L., & Doty, C. R. (1997). Best practices for work-based learning in community colleges. In A. J. Pautler, & D. M. Buffamanti, (Eds). (1997). Winning ways: Best practices in work-based learning. Ann Arbor, MI: Tech Directions Books

 Prakken.
- Meyer, N. B. (1991). Andragogy and community college education: An analysis of the importance of self-concept/self esteem in the nontraditional student. Iowa:
 Master's Research Project, University of Northern Iowa. (ERIC Document Reproduction Service No. ED343621).
- Meyers, S. B. (1999). Service learning in alternative education settings. *The Clearing House*, 73(2), 114-117.
- Miles, M. & Huberman, A. (1984). Qualitative data analysis: A sourcebook of new methods. Beverly Hills, CA: Sage.

- Moon, A. (1999). Service learning: A bridge to the community. *Schools in the Middle*, 8(5), 5-8.
- Montgomery, A. (1995). *Phenomenological study of wisdom.* Unpublished doctoral dissertation. Colorado State University, Fort Collins, CO.
- Morse, J., & Field, P. (1995). Qualitative research methods for health professionals (2nd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Mostofsky, D. (Ed.). (1965). *Stimulus generalization*. Palo, Alto, CA: Stanford University Press.
- Mueller, E., Hybels, J., Schmiedeskamp, J., Sonquist, J., & Staelin, C. (1969).

 Technological advance in an expanding economy: Its impact on a cross-section of the labor force. Ann Arbor, MI: University of Michigan, Survey Research Center.
- Murphy, S. H. (1998). Helping students learn to work together as a team. *NASSP Bulletin*, 82(602), 83-88.
- Narsavage, G., Lindell, D., Chen, Y., Savrin, C., & Duffy, E. (2002). A community engagement initiative: Service-learning in graduate nursing education. *Journal of Nursing Education*, 41, 457-461.
- National Council of State Boards of Nursing. (2009). National Council of State Boards of Nursing 2007 NCLEX-RN® detailed test plan: Item writer/Item reviewer/Nurse educator version. Retrieved March 22, 2009, from https://www.ncsbn.org/2007 NCLEX RN Detailed Test Plan Educator.pdf
- National Institute of Education (U.S.) Study Group on the Conditions of Excellence in American Higher Education. (1984). Involvement in learning: Realizing the potential of American higher education: Final report of the Study Group on

- conditions of excellence in American higher education. Washington, DC: National Institute of Education, U.S. Department of Education.
- National League of Nursing. (2009a). Priorities for research in nursing education.

 Retrieved March 3, 2009, from

 http://www.nln.org//aboutnln/ProfOpportunities_11_09_04/prioritiesforresearch.h

 tm
- National League of Nursing. (2009b). *Innovations in Nursing Education: Creating Reform.* Retrieved March 4, 2009, from http://www.nln.org//Research/priorities.htm
- National Service-Learning Clearinghouse. (2009). What is service-learning? Scotts

 Valley, CA: Learn and Serve America a program of the Corporation for National and Community Service and Freedom Corp.
- National Society of Experiential Education. (1995). *Membership Brochure* [Brochure]. Raleigh, NC: Author.
- Naylor, M. (1998). Trends and directions in career education. *ERIC Digest*, 79.

 Columbus, OH: ERIC Clearinghouse on Adult Career and Vocational Education.

 (ERIC Document Reproduction Service No. ED299458)
- Ngeow, K. Y. (1998). Enhancing student thinking through collaborative learning. ERIC Digest. (Report No. EDO-CS-98-03). Bloomington, IN: ERIC Clearing House on Reading, English, and Communication. (ERIC Document Reproduction Service No. ED422586)
- Nicholls, G., & Gardner, J. (1999). Pupils in transition: Moving between key stages. New York: Rutledge.

- Norbeck, J., Connolly, C., & Koerner, J. (1998). Caring and community: Concepts and models for service-learning in nursing. Washington, DC: American Association for Higher Learning.
- O'Banion, T. (1997). A learning college for the 21st century. Phoenix, AZ: Oryx Press.
- Office of Vocational and Adult Education, U.S. Department of Education. (1997).

 Standards: Making them useful and workable for the education enterprise.

 Retrieved March 5, 2000, from http://www.ed.gov/pubs/Standards/
- Pace, C., & Stern, G. (1958). An approach to the measurement of psychological characteristics of college environments. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 49(5), 269-277.
- Palinscar, A. S., & Brown, A. L. (1984). Reciprocal teaching of comprehension monitoring activities. *Cognition and Instruction*, 1, 117-175.
- Palmer, C. E., & Savoie, E. J. (2001). Service learning: A conceptual overview. In G. Poirrier (Ed.), Service learning: Curricular applications in nursing. Albany, NY: Elsevier.
- Parsons, M., & Lisman, C. (Eds.). (1996). Promoting community renewal through civic literacy and service learning. In M. Parsons & C. Lisman, (Eds.) *New Directions for Community Colleges*, 24 (pp. 1-7). San Francisco: Jossey Bass.
- Pascarella, E., & Terenzini, P. (1991). *How college affects students*. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- Pascarella, E. T., & Terenzini, P. T. (1996). How college makes a difference: A summary. In F. K. Stage and Associates (Eds.), *College students: The evolving nature of research*. Needham Heights, MA: Simon & Schuster.

- Pautler, A. J., & Buffamanti, D. M. (Eds.). (1997). Winning ways: Best practices in work-based learning. Ann Arbor, MI: Tech Directions Books Prakken.
- Pawley, C. M., & Kossick, R. (2008, February). Preparing nursing students for clinical reality. In Meti.com 2008 Wrap up Workshop on-line. Retrieved March 16, 2009. http://www.meti.com/2008wrap_up/workshop_files/Preparing%20Nursing%20St udents%20for%20Clinical%20Reality/Pawley%20and%20Kossick_Preparing%20students%20for%20clinical%20reality.ppt.
- Payne, C. (1993). Construction of an instrument to assess the service-learning model: Establishing concurrent validity and internal reliability (Doctoral Dissertation University of Northern Colorado, 1992). *Dissertation Abstracts International*, 53/07A.
- Payne, C., & Bennett, E. (1999). Service-learning and changes in involvement preferences among undergraduates: Community Service Involvement Preference Inventory (CSIPI). *NASPA Journal*, *37*(1), 337-348.
- Pennington, K. (2000/2001). Community building and the rural community college.

 *Rural Educator, 22(2), 20-23.
- Perkins, D. N., & Salomon, G. (1988). Teaching for transfer. *Educational Leadership*, 46(1), 22-32.
- Perkins, D. N., & Salomon, G. (1989). Are cognitive skills context-bound? *Educational Researcher*, 18, 16-25.
- Pervin, L. (1968). Performance and satisfaction as a function of individual environment fit. *Psychological Bulletin*, 69, 56-68.

- Peterson, S. J., & Schaffer, M. A. (1999). Service learning: A strategy to develop group collaboration and research skills. *Journal of Nursing Education*, 38(5), 208-214.
- Pharez, M., Walls, N., Roussel, L., & Broome, B. (2008). Combining creativity and community partnership in mental health clinical experiences. *Nursing Education Perspectives*, 29(2), 100-104.
- Philadelphia Community College, Office of Institutional Research. (1986). Student

 growth in self-concept: Institutional research report #36. Philadelphia:

 Philadelphia Community College. (ERIC Document Reproduction Service No. ED292515)
- Pickeral, T., & Peters, K. (Eds.). (1997). Tensions inherent in service-learning: Achieving balance. Mesa, AZ: Campus Compact National Center for Community Colleges.
- Poirrier, G. (2001). Service-learning: Curricular applications in nursing. Sudbury, MA:

 Jones and Bartlett & National League for Nursing.
- Prentice, M., & Garcia, R. (2000). Service learning: The next generation in education.

 Community College Journal of Research and Practice, 24(1), 19-26.
- Prieto, C. (1998). Higher Education Act: Access into the 21st Century. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Education. Retrieved June 15, 2000, from http://www.nade.net
- Pritchett, P. (1995). The Employee Handbook of New Work Habits for a Radically Changing World. Dallas, TX: Pritchett & Associates.
- Quinn, R., & Baldi de Mandilovitch, M. (1975). Education and job satisfaction: A questionable payoff. Ann Arbor, MI: University of Michigan, Survey Research Center.

- Quinn, R., & Baldi de Mandilovitch, M. (1980). Education and job satisfaction, 1962-1977. Vocational Guidance Quarterly, 29,100-111.
- Quinn, R., & Staines, G. (1979). The 1977 quality of employment survey. Ann Arbor, MI: University of Michigan, Survey Research Center.
- Quinn, R., Staines, G., & McCullough, M. (1974). *Job satisfaction: Is there a trend?*Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Labor.
- Redman, R., & Clark, L. (2002). Service-learning as a model for integrating social justice in the nursing curriculum. *Journal of Nursing Education*, 41(10), 446-449.
- Reid, J., Forrestal, P., & Cook, J. (1989). Small group learning in the classroom.

 Portsmouth, NH: Heinemann.
- Richards, E. (1984). Undergraduate preparation and early career outcomes: A study of recent college graduates. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 24(3), 279-304.
- Robinson, G. (1999/2000). Stepping into our destiny: Service learning in community colleges. *Community College Journal*, 70(3), 8-12.
- Rudestam, K. E., & Newton, R. R. (1992). Surviving your dissertation: A comprehensive guide to content and process. Newberry Park, CA: Sage.
- Rueland, M. (1999). Collaborative learning as professional socialization: A field study project. Minneapolis, MN: University of Minnesota.
- Sachs, F. D. (1998). Give them wings and let them fly. One school's prescription for senioritis. *College Board Review*, 185(3), 10-15.
- Sagen, H., Dallam, J., & Laverty, J. (2000). Effects of career preparation experiences on the initial employment success of college graduates. *Research in Higher Education*, 41(6), 753-767.

- Scanlon, B. (1999a, November 5). Boost quality or lose funds, panel warns: State colleges higher Ed commission OKs 31 requirements, including class-size limit, competency tests. *Denver Rocky Mountain News*, pp. 15A.
- Scanlon, B. (1999b, December 3). Public colleges lose points on report cards but marks are not expected to cut funds. *Denver Rocky Mountain News*, pp. 7A.
- The Secretary's Commission on Achieving Necessary Skills. (1992a). Learning a living:

 A blueprint for high performance: A SCANS report for America 2000.

 Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Labor. Retrieved October 5, 2005, from http://wdr.doleta.gov/SCANS/lal/lal.pdf
- The Secretary's Commission on Achieving Necessary Skills. (1992b). SCANS: Blueprint for action: Building community coalitions. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Labor. Retrieved October 5, 2005, from http://wdr.doleta.gov/SCANS/blueprint/blueprint.pdf
- The Secretary's Commission on Achieving Necessary Skills. (1992c). What work requires of schools: A SCANS report for America 2000. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Labor. Retrieved October 5, 2005, from http://wdr.doleta.gov/SCANS/whatwork/whatwork.pdf
- Seebach, L. (1999, December 13). Quality a tricky thing to judge. *Denver Rocky Mountain News*, pp. 1B.
- Seifer, S. (1998). Service-learning: Community-campus partnerships for health professions education. *Academic Medicine*, 73, 273-277.

- Seifer, S., & Connors, K. (1997). Campus-community partnerships for health: A guide for developing community-responsive models in health professions education. San Francisco: UCSF Center for the Health Professions.
- Seifer, S., & Vaughn, R. (2002). Partners in caring and community: Service-learning in nursing education. *Journal of Nursing Education*, 41(10), 437-439.
- Serow, R., Calleson, D., Parker, L., & Morgan, L. (1996). Service-learning and the institutional mission of community colleges. *Community College Review*, 23(4), 3-13.
- Shumer, R. (1994). Community based learning: Humanizing education. *Journal of Adolescents* 17, 357-367.
- Sigmon, R. (1979). Service-learning: Three principles. Synergist, 8(1), 9-11.
- Siperstein, G. N. (1988). Students with learning disabilities in college: the need for a program to facilitate transitions. *Journal of Learning Disabilities*, 21(7), 431-436.
- Smith, C. (2008). Implementing a nursing internship program. *Healthcare Quarterly*, 11 (2), 76-79.
- Smith, M. (1987). Publishing qualitative research. *American Educational Research Journal*, 24(2), 173-183.
- Smith, M. (1994). Community service learning: Striking the chord of citizenship.

 Michigan Journal of Community Service Learning, 1(1), 37-43.
- Stage, F. K. (1996). College outcomes and student development: Filling the gaps. In F. K. Stage and Associates (Eds.), *College students: The evolving nature of research* (pp. xx-xxi). Needham Heights, MA: Simon & Schuster.

- Stanton, T. (1991). Liberal arts, experiential learning and public service: Necessary ingredients for socially responsible undergraduate education. *Journal of Cooperative Education*, 27(2), 55-68.
- Stanton, T., Giles, D., & Cruz, N. (1999). Service-learning: A movement's pioneers reflect on its origins, practice and future. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- Steinberg, A. (1998). Real learning, real work: School-to-work as high school reform.

 New York: Routledge.
- Steinberg, A., Cushman, K., & Riordan, R. (1999). Schooling for the real world: The essential guide to rigorous and relevant learning. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- Stern, G. (1970). People in context: Measuring person-environment congruence in education and industry. New York: John Wiley & Sons.
- Strange, C., & Banning, J. (2001). Educating by design: Creating campus learning environments that work. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- Strauss, A., & Corbin, J. (1990). *Basics of qualitative research*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Swann, J., & Pratt, J. (Eds.). (1999). Improving education: Realist approaches to method and research. New York: Cassell Education.
- Swick, K., & Rowls, M. (2000). The voices of pre-service teachers on the meaning and value of their service-learning. *Education*, 120, 461-468, 454.
- Tai-Seale, T. (2001). Liberating service learning and applying the new practice. *College Teaching*, 49(1), 14-18.
- Talbot, G. L. (1981). The effects of student meanings of work on their self-concept and intrinsic motivation and subsequent academic performance. Sainte Foy, Quebec:

- Champlain Regional College. (ERIC Document Reproduction Service No. ED220747).
- Tesch, R. (1990). Qualitative research: Analysis types and software tools. New York: Falmer.
- Texas Council of Chief State School Officers. (1997). Service-learning outcomes. Austin, TX: Texas Commission on Volunteerism and Community Service.
- Thorndike, E. L., & Woodworth, R. S. (1901). The influence of improvement in one mental function upon the efficiency of other functions. *Psychological Review*, 8, 247-261.
- Thorndyke, P. W., & Hayes-Roth, B. (1979). The use of schemata in the acquisition and transfer of knowledge. *Cognitive Psychology*, 11, 82-106.
- Toepfer, Jr. C. F. (1997). Developing best practices in middle level and high school vocational/career/occupational programs. In A. J. Pautler, & D. M. Buffamanti, (Eds.), Winning ways: Best practices in work-based learning. Ann Arbor, MI: Tech Directions Books Prakken.
- United States Bureau of Labor Statistics. (2004). Current labor statistics. *Monthly Labor Review*, 129(5). Retrieved June 3, 2006 from http://www.bls.gov/emp/optd/home.htm
- United States Department of Labor. (1991). What work requires of schools: Executive summary. Washington, DC: The Secretary's Commission on Achieving Necessary Skills, SCANS 2000.
- United States Department of Labor. (2005). Secretary's Commission on Achieving

 Necessary Skills. Washington, DC: Employment and Training Administration: US

- Department of Labor. Retrieved October 5, 2005, from http://wdr.doleta.gov/SCANS/
- United States Department of Labor. (2009, January 15). *The Secretary's Commission on Achieving Necessary Skills*. Retrieved March 3, 2009 from http://wdr.doleta.gov/SCANS/
- Upcraft, M. L., Gardner, J. N., & Associates. (1989). The freshman year experience:

 Helping students survive and succeed in college. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- Vaughn, G. (1995). *The community college story*. Washington, DC: American Association of Community Colleges.
- Vitanza, V. (Ed.). (1982). *Pre/Text: The first decade*. Pittsburgh, PA: University of Pittsburgh Press.
- Volk, K. S., & Peel, H. A. (1997). Basic academic and vocational skills required of employees with only a high school diploma. In A. J. Pautler, & D. M. Buffamanti, (Eds.), Winning ways: Best practices in work-based learning. Ann Arbor, MI: Tech Directions Books Prakken.
- Vygotsky, L. (1925). Consciousness as a problem in the psychology of behavior. In K. N. Kornilov, (Ed.), *Psychology and Marxism*. Leningrad, USSR: State Publishing House.
- Walsh, B. (1973). Theories of person-environment interaction: Implications for the college student. Iowa City, IA: ACT.
- Ward, K. (1996). Service-learning and student volunteerism: Reflections on institutional commitment. Paper presented at the annual meeting of the American Educational

- Research Association, New York. (ERIC Document Reproduction Service No. ED398807)
- Wegner, S. (1980). Extracurricular activities are an essential factor in the development of the student's self-concept, socialization and future success. South Bend, IN:

 School of Education, Indiana University at South Bend. (ERIC Document Reproduction Service No. ED196171)
- Whetzel, D. (1992). The Secretary of Labor's Commission on Achieving Necessary Skills. Washington, DC: ERIC Clearinghouse on Tests Measurement and Evaluation. (ERIC Document Reproduction Service No. ED339749)
- Whitbourne, S., Collins, K., & Skultety, K. (2001). Formative reflections on service-learning in a course on the psychology of aging. *Educational Gerontology*, 27(1), 105-115.
- White, J. L. (1999). Wellness Wednesdays: Health promotion and service learning on campus. *Journal of Nursing Education*, 38(2), 69-71.
- Williams, D. (Ed.). (1986). Naturalistic evaluation; No. 30. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- Worrell-Carlisle, P. (2005). Service-learning: A tool for developing cultural awareness.

 Nurse Educator, 30(5), 197-202.
- William, D., & Driscoll, A. (1997). Connecting curriculum content and community service: Guidelines for facilitating student reflection. *Journal of Public Service* and Outreach, 2(1), 33-42.
- Williams, R. (1990). The impact of field education on student development: Research findings. In J. Kendall and Associates (Eds.), *Combining service and learning: A*

- resource book for community and public service, volume 1, 130-147. Raleigh, NC: National Society for Internships and Experiential Education.
- Wink, J. (2000). Critical pedagogy: Notes from the real world, (2nd ed.). New York: Longman.
- Wirth, A. G. (1993). Education and work: The choices we face. *Phi Delta Kappan*, 74(5), 360-366.
- Yohe, B. C. (1997). General factors related to community college student satisfaction.

 Dissertation Abstracts International, 58(12A), 4536.
- Zlotkowski, E. (2001). Mapping new terrain: Service-learning across the disciplines. *Change*, *33*(1), 24-33.

| APPENDIX A - INVITATIONAL I | LETTER TO POTEN | FIAL PARTICIPANTS |
|-----------------------------|-----------------|-------------------|
| | | |
| | | |

TEXT FOR FIRST CONTACT E-MAIL OR PHONE CALL

March 20, 2008

Hello, program alumnus, Community College Associate Degree Nursing Program Alumni:

Ms. Nursing Program Faculty, a representative of your former nursing education program, has been in contact with me and referred your name as an alumnus who may be willing to participate in my study. Thank you for agreeing to this contact and for considering participation in my research. I am a PhD candidate from Colorado State University and my dissertation study is around Associate Degree Nursing graduates' perceptions and experiences. The purpose of my study is to explore the relationship between participation in a community college-based service learning project within a nursing program and the effects that this experience may have on choices made by the graduate, now a registered nurse, who entered the clinical hands-on practice of nursing. Your prior nursing program introduced you to service learning in the coursework of your class entitled NRS Title of class.

Participation will involve meeting in a small group setting with other alumni who have had the same or a similar service learning experience. The focus group will take about approximately 30-60 minutes (depending on when we meet). This focus group session will be audio taped to assure a more accurate transcription of your perspectives than note taking and to allow me to more fully concentrate on the information you provide. You are free to decline to answer any question asked. Following transcription of the focus group session, you will be given a copy of the meeting transcript so you can correct or clarify the information you provided.

Areas of experience that will be addressed in the focus group sessions will include the effects of the service learning experience on transition from college into the clinical work setting, as well as any additional impacts that you may attribute to having had service learning during your nursing education. There are no known risks or any direct benefits to participation in this study. However, the information gained could be useful to your alma mater and to other nursing programs by providing information that may increase support for these nursing programs. A compilation of the information gained will be shared with your alma mater and disseminated through articles for publication.

Focus group data often produces additional questions requiring clarification by the researcher. With this in mind, you may be invited to participate in a 30-60 minute post-focus-group individual interview. You are free to decline to participate in the interview portion of the study. This interview will occur within a month following the focus group portion of the study. Following transcription of the interview, you will, again, be given a copy of the interview transcript so you can correct or clarify the information you provided.

I schedule you for a focus group session based on the information you supply to me in the attached e-mail. I will be in *your area* to collect data from Monday March 24th through

Friday March 28th. If you have a preference for the time/date of your participation, please note this in your response. If you have questions, feel free to contact me on my cell phone at *my phone* or by my e-mail address *PhD Candidate's e-mail address*.

Sincerely,
Kathy Smith-Stillson, MSN, RN
PhD Candidate, Colorado State University
Donald Quick, PhD
Dissertation Advisor and PI, Colorado State University

APPENDIX B - INVITATION TO PARTICIPATE

| Date |
|--|
| Hello,, Community College Associate Degree Nursing Program Alumni: |
| XXXXXXXX, a representative of your former nursing education program, has been in contact with me and referred your name as an alumnus who may be willing to participate in my study. Thank you for agreeing to this contact and for considering participation in my research. As I believe you have been informed, I am a PhD candidate from Colorado State University and my dissertation study is around Associate Degree Nursing graduates' perceptions and experiences. The purpose of my study is to explore the relationship between participation in a community college-based service learning project within a nursing program and the effects that this experience may have on choices made by the graduate, now a registered nurse, who entered the clinical hands-on practice of nursing. Your prior nursing program introduced you to service learning in the coursework of your class entitled |
| Participation will involve meeting in a focus group setting with other alumni who have had the same or a similar service learning experience. The focus group will take about approximately two hours. This focus group session will be audio taped to assure a more accurate transcription of your perspectives than note taking and to allow me to more fully concentrate on the information you provide. You are free to decline to answer any question asked. Following transcription of the focus group session, you will be given a copy of the meeting transcript so you can correct or clarify the information you provided. You may at any time decline to participate in this study. |
| Areas of experience that will be addressed in the focus group sessions will include the effects of the service learning experience on transition from college into the clinical work setting, as well as any additional impacts that you may attribute to having had service learning during your nursing education. There are no known risks or any direct benefits to participation in this study. However, the information gained could be useful to your alma mater and to other nursing programs by providing information that may increase support for these nursing programs. A compilation of the information gained will be shared with your alma mater and disseminated through articles for publication. |
| Focus group data often produces additional questions requiring clarification by the researcher. With this in mind, you may be invited to participate in a 30-60 minute post-focus-group individual interview. You are free to decline to participate in the interview portion of the study. This interview will occur within a month following the focus group portion of the study. Following transcription of the interview, you will, again, be given a copy of the interview transcript so you can correct or clarify the information you provided |

You will be scheduled for a focus group session on either ______, 2006 at 7pm or

in the second focus group session on ______, 2006 at 11am. If you have a preference for the time/date of your participation, please note this in your response.

Unless otherwise indicated, I will contact you in the same manner as I have on this occasion.

Sincerely,
Kathy Smith-Stillson, MSN, RN
PhD Candidate, Colorado State University
Donald Quick, PhD
Dissertation Advisor and PI, Colorado State University

APPENDIX C - CONSENT TO PARTICIPATE

Consent to Participate in a Research Study Colorado State University

TITLE OF STUDY: Community College Nursing Graduate Perceptions Of The Influence Of Service Learning On Transition To Clinical Practice

Please read this form and ask any questions you may have before agreeing to participate. You are invited to participate in a research study seeking reflections of registered nurses who graduated from an Associate Degree nursing program that used a collaborative project between your program and a communitybased agency (e.g. hospital, senior center, etc.) to meet a community need while advancing your education. You were selected because you graduated from just such a program and meet these criteria. Your perspectives and experiences are vital to the success of this study. Participation in any portion of this study is totally voluntary. If you decide to participate, you may withdraw your consent, stop participating, at any time without penalty. Costs for participation are limited to time spent and transportation to/from the session with these being the sole responsibility of each participant. This research is in partial fulfillment of requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy for Kathy Smith-Stillson, MSN, RN Colorado State University College of Applied Human Sciences, School of Education, Colorado State University Fort Collins, Colorado 80523; kaysmith@lamar.colostate.edu.

The study purpose is to explore perceptions of participation in a nursing program service-learning project, and the effects that experience may have had on choices made after graduating and working as an RN. Data obtained could be useful to nurse educators in initiating curricular changes and to community agencies in making policy and practice recommendations. It is not possible to identify all potential risks in research procedures, but the researcher has taken reasonable safeguards to minimize known and potential, but unknown, risks. Benefits of participation are limited to personal perceptions, personal satisfaction, gained through research involvement and potential improvement of nursing programs. In keeping with rules of confidentiality, we will keep private all research records that identify you, to the extent allowed by law. In writing about the study, I will use combined information only. To preserve participant identity, in write up and publication of this study, I will keep your name and other identifying information private. Data will be kept locked and will be destroyed in three years when analysis is complete.

If you agree to participate you will be included in a two-hour focus group scheduled at a central location and at a time convenient to participants. The focus group session will be audio taped to allow for optimum concentration on your input. You will also be invited to participate in a 30-60 minute follow-up interview at a later time. You are free to decline to answer any question asked or inclusion in post-interviews. Following transcription of the focus group session (in 10-14 days), you will be sent a copy of the meeting transcript to correct or clarify any information provided. Snacks and beverages will be provided for the session. A small gift certificate worth \$10 will be provided for each participant. No monetary compensation will be provided. Please consider any personal reasons for not participating in this study. The focus group meeting will be open only to participants and the research investigators. No daycare will be provided. Observers or guests may not attend. This will be held in a non-smoking facility. Pets other than licensed guide dogs will not be allowed.

Before deciding to accept this invitation to take part, please ask any questions that now come to mind. Future questions can be sent by e-mail to Kathy Smith-Stillson at kaysmith@lamar.colostate.edu or by phone at (970) 443-1231. You may also contact Dr. Don Quick, research advisor, by e-mail at don.quick@colostate.edu. If you have any questions about your rights as a volunteer in this research, contact Janell Barker, IRB Administrator, at 970-491-1655. You will receive a copy of this consent form for your records. The Colorado Governmental Immunity Act determines and may limit Colorado State University's legal responsibility if injury happens because of this study. Claims against CSU must be filed within 180 days of injury.

Your signature acknowledges that you have read the information stated and willingly sign this consent form. Your signature also acknowledges that you have received, on the date signed, a copy of this one page document.

| Signature of person agreeing to take part in the study | | Date |
|---|-------------|------|
| Printed name of person agreeing to take part in the study | | Date |
| Name of person providing information to participant | | Date |
| Signature of Research Staff | | Date |
| Page 1 of 1 Participant's initials | Date | |

APPENDIX D - FOCUS GROUP PROCESS

FOCUS GROUP PROCESS

- I. Greeting
- I. Introductions
- II. Explanation of the "ground rules" of the focus group
 - A. Explanation of why I am seeking their assistance brief description of the study
 - B. How the Focus Group works
 - C. Any paperwork
 - D. My responsibilities to them during and after the focus group, e.g. will they get a summary of the findings, etc.
 - E. Follow up to the focus group
- III. Questions for the Focus Group Session Get to know you section:
 - A. When did you graduate from your nursing program?
 - B. How long after graduation did you enter clinical practice?
 - C. Describe the various nursing units where you have worked since graduation.
 - D. Where do you currently work and in what capacity?
 - E. How long have you worked in this position?
- IV. Questions for the Focus Group Session Study questions:
 - A. Describe for me your experience with the community project in your nursing program (use actual project name, e.g. community experience in your Health Promotions course NUR 326).
 - B. Describe how the people who received the service you provided as a student contributed to your educational experience and to your current functioning as a registered nurse.
 - C. Describe how your participation in the project working in the community has affected your experience as an entry level to present RN? (Villard, 2003)
 - 1. What specific skills, abilities, experience, etc. did you gain from your involvement? (Villard, 2003)
 - 2. Describe how this experience has influenced your clinical approach to the nursing environment and to patients/clients.
 - 3. Reflect back on your first months or year of nursing practice, how did your experiences in the community project influence that beginning?
 - D. Describe how this experience influenced your life as a career nurse.
 - E. Take a moment to reflect back on what has been said here today and please add any additional comments or experiences that come to mind.
- V. Questions & Conclude the session with a "thank-you" for participation, and reiterate how I will follow up with them

APPENDIX E - FOCUS GROUP PARTICIPANTS

PARTICIPANT PROFILES Obtained March 2008

| Participant | Graduated | Entry into | Clinical areas Since | Current | How long |
|-------------|-----------|--------------|----------------------|-----------------|------------|
| Pseudonym | Graduated | Clinical | Graduation | Employment | in Current |
| Pseudonym | | Practice | Graduation | Linployment | Position |
| Mary | 2006 | Immediate | 1) Hospital | HMO Clinic | 1 year |
| ivialy | 2000 | entry | 2) HMO Clinic | HIVIO CIIIIC | 1 year |
| Cambia | 2001 | 5 mo after | + | 1) Hoomital | C 1/ |
| Sophia | 2001 | | 1) Hospital | 1) Hospital | 6 ½ yrs |
| | | graduation | 2) Ambulatory | 2) Adjunct | hospital |
| | | | surgery | teaching | 2 |
| | | • | | | 3 yrs |
| 14:- | 2006 | les es dista | 1) II | 1) A | teaching |
| Lydia | 2006 | Immediate | 1) Hospital | 1) Army by | 1 month |
| |] | entry | Army | contract | |
| | | | 2) Hospital | 2) Fertility | |
| | | | civilian | Clinic | |
| Joanna | 2006 | Immediate | Hospital | Bariatric | 1 ½ yrs |
| | 1000 | entry | | Surgical unit | |
| Grace | 1989 | Immediate | 1) Ambulatory | Teaching full | 9 mo. |
| | | entry | Care | time didactic | |
| | | | 2) Insurance | and clinical | |
| | | | 3) Case mgmt | Asst. Prof OB | |
| | | | 4) Military | | |
| | | | reserves | | |
| | | | 5) Clinical | | |
| | | | teaching | | |
| Beth | 1997 | Immediate | Hospital – multiple | Management | 2 years |
| | | entry | departments | ICU | |
| Deborah | 2005 | 6 weeks | 1) Hospital | Account exec | 21 years |
| | | | 2) HMO Clinic | in insurance | |
| Mark | 2001 (BA | Immediate | Hospital | Hospital | 7 years |
| | Biology) | entry | | Telemetry | |
| Joseph | 2006 | Immediate | All volunteer for | All volunteer | 12 years – |
| | | entry | RN experience | for RN clinical | 2 years as |
| | Ì | | | (Park Ranger, | an RN |
| | | | | Clinics, Red | (prior |
| | . | | | Cross Shelter, | EMT) |
| | | | | Health Dept) | |
| Naomi | 2006 (LPN | Immediate | 1) ER | Psychiatric | 2 years |
| | 1968) | entry | 2) Psych | liaison | |
| Julia | 2006 (BA | Immediate | 1) Hospital | Floor nurse | 1 yr 3 mo |
| | Business) | entry | 2) Detox | hospital | |
| | | | | | |

| Participant Pseudonym | Graduated | Entry into Clinical Practice | Clinical areas Since Graduation | Current Employment | How long in Current Position |
|--------------------------|-----------|------------------------------------|--|--|------------------------------------|
| Anna | 2006 | 1month after | Long term care Assisted Living Geriatric subacute Geriatric clinic | Supervising Nurse for 12 floors and work clinic | 1½ years |
| Sarah | 2006 | 3 months after | Hospital | Surgical unit staff nurse | 1 ½ years |
| Judith | 2006 | Immediate entry | Hospital telemetry ICU | ICU | 2 months |
| Ruth | 1997 | Immediate entry | 1) OB and well baby 2) NICU 3) TCCU | TCCU | 6 months |